

LUND UNIVERSITY

Temperature management after cardiac arrest, postanoxic injury and neurological recovery

Lybeck, Anna

2020

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Lybeck, A. (2020). Temperature management after cardiac arrest, postanoxic injury and neurological recovery. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

Creative Commons License: Unspecified

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Temperature management after cardiac arrest, postanoxic injury and neurological recovery

ANNA LYBECK FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY





Anna Lybeck is a specialist in anaesthetics and intensive care at Skåne University Hospital. Her current research, and this thesis, focuses on anoxic brain injury after cardiac arrest.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:08 ISBN 978-91-7619-868-1 ISSN 1652-8220



Temperature management after cardiac arrest, postanoxic injury and neurological recovery

Anna Lybeck



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Segerfalksalen, Wallenberg Neurocentrum on Thursday, 30 January, 2020 at 9 a.m.

> *Faculty opponent* Professor Silvana Naredi

Supervisor Professor Hans Friberg

Tobias Cronberg

Co-supervisors Erik Westhall Malir

Malin Rundgren

organization	Document name	Document name	
LUND UNIVERSITY	Doctoral Dissertation	n	
	Date of issue		
	30 January 2020	30 January 2020	
Author Anna Lybeck	Sponsoring organiza	ation	
Title and subtitle Temperature	management after cardiac arrest, po	ostanoxic injury and neurological recovery.	
Abstract			
In patients admitted alive to hosp sustaining therapy due to brain i includes clinical examination, ne methods to ameliorate the brain neuroprotective stratery recomm This thesis investigates the char	oital after cardiac arrest the most con njury. This decicion is preceeed by r urophysiological tests, imagning and injury after cardiac arrest is ongoing ended by guidelines. acteristics of and neuroprognostic v (2020 up 2020) It also investigated	mmon mode of death is withdrawal of life nultimodal neuroprognostication, which d serum markers of braininjury. The search for g. Target temperature manegemnt (TTM) is a alue of time until awakening (I) and clinical	
seizures (II) at two levels of TTM continuous electroencephalogra on cEEG results in additional bra anesthesiologists, neurologists a	(33°C vs 36°C). It also investigates n (cEEG) in the ICU (III) and wheth in injury (IV). The thesis is designed nd neurophysiologists in this area o	the potential bed-side use of simplified er electrographic status epilepticus diagnosed d to reflect the collaboration between of medicine.	
designed to evaluate outcome in difference in long-term neurologi	comatose survivors of cardiac arrest comatose survivors of cardiac arrest cal outcome between intervention a	ed, parallel group, assessor-blinded trial st after TTM at 33°C or 36°C with no rms.	
was longer in TTM at 33°C than	at 36°C. The difference could not be	e attributed to sedative drugs administered	
TTM at 33°C, level of conscious body temperature on pharmacok Clinical seizures are common af in outcome between early and la significance of clinical seizures (After cardiac arrest, preliminary earlier detection of clinically rele- interpretation of cEEG by ICU ph montage and the cEEG interpret After cardiac arrest, ESE is asso severe neuronal injury possibly of drugs. Associations with glial fibr	arrest of severity of brain hijdry. Inc ness on admission and clinical seizu inetics of sedative drugs. er cardiac arrest and associated wit te onset clinical seizures. Level of T Good outcomes occur, even in early bedside interpretations of simplified vant cEEG changes and prompt eva sysicians requires awareness of limi ations performed by ICU physicians ciated with higher levels of serum n aused by ESE, which can potentiall illary acidic protein and glial injury a	dependent predictors of late awakening were: ures. Results may be explained by the effect of th a poor outcome. There were no differences 'TM did not affect the prevalence or prognostic status myoclonus. cEEGs by trained ICU physicians may allow aluation by an EEG-expert. Bedside tations of both the simplified electrode tations of both the simplified electrode simplified electrode tations of both the simplified electrode simpli	
Key words Cardiac arrest, targe	t temperature mangement, outcome	dependent predictors of late awakening were: ures. Results may be explained by the effect of th a poor outcome. There were no differences 'TM did not affect the prevalence or prognostic status myoclonus. cEEGs by trained ICU physicians may allow aluation by an EEG-expert. Bedside tations of both the simplified electrode b. eurofilament light chain suggesting more ly be mitigated by treatment with antiepileptic are less clear. e, neuroprognostication, seizures, EEG	
Classification system and/or inde	t temperature mangement, outcome ex terms (if any)	dependent predictors of late awakening were: ures. Results may be explained by the effect of th a poor outcome. There were no differences 'TM did not affect the prevalence or prognostic status myoclonus. cEEGs by trained ICU physicians may allow aluation by an EEG-expert. Bedside tations of both the simplified electrode b. eurofilament light chain suggesting more by be mitigated by treatment with antiepileptic are less clear. e, neuroprognostication, seizures, EEG	
Classification system and/or inde Supplementary bibliographical in	t temperature mangement, outcome ex terms (if any) formation	dependent predictors of late awakening were: ures. Results may be explained by the effect of th a poor outcome. There were no differences 'TM did not affect the prevalence or prognostic status myoclonus. cEEGs by trained ICU physicians may allow aluation by an EEG-expert. Bedside tations of both the simplified electrode b. eurofilament light chain suggesting more by be mitigated by treatment with antiepileptic are less clear. e, neuroprognostication, seizures, EEG Language English	
Classification system and/or inde Supplementary bibliographical in	t temperature mangement, outcome ex terms (if any) formation	dependent predictors of late awakening were: ures. Results may be explained by the effect of th a poor outcome. There were no differences 'TM did not affect the prevalence or prognostic status myoclonus. cEEGs by trained ICU physicians may allow aluation by an EEG-expert. Bedside tations of both the simplified electrode eurofilament light chain suggesting more ly be mitigated by treatment with antiepileptic are less clear. e, neuroprognostication, seizures, EEG Language English ISBN 978-91-7619-868-1	
 during the inst 46 h after Cardiac TTM at 33°C, level of conscious body temperature on pharmacol Clinical seizures are common af in outcome between early and la significance of clinical seizures (After cardiac arrest, preliminary earlier detection of cEEG by ICU pf montage and the cEEG interpret After cardiac arrest, ESE is asso severe neuronal injury possibly of drugs. Associations with glial fibrion Key words Cardiac arrest, targe Classification system and/or inde Supplementary bibliographical in ISSN and key title 1652-8220 Recipient's notes 	Affect of severity of brain highly. Incluses on admission and clinical seizu inetics of sedative drugs. er cardiac arrest and associated with te onset clinical seizures. Level of T Good outcomes occur, even in early bedside interpretations of simplified vant cEEG changes and prompt eva pysicians requires awareness of limi ations performed by ICU physicians ciated with higher levels of serum n aused by ESE, which can potentiall illary acidic protein and glial injury a t temperature mangement, outcome ex terms (if any) formation	dependent predictors of late awakening were: ures. Results may be explained by the effect of th a poor outcome. There were no differences TM did not affect the prevalence or prognostic status myoclonus. cEEGs by trained ICU physicians may allow aluation by an EEG-expert. Bedside tations of both the simplified electrode automs of both the simplified electrode by be mitigated by treatment with antiepileptic are less clear. e, neuroprognostication, seizures, EEG Language English ISBN 978-91-7619-868-1 Price	

reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature Analybert Date 2019-12-04

Temperature management after cardiac arrest, postanoxic injury and neurological recovery

Anna Lybeck



Copyright Anna Lybeck pp 1-71

Paper 1 © Elsevier

Paper 2 © Elsevier

Paper 3 © Wiley

Paper 4 © by the Authors (manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences Lund Section of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care

ISBN 978-91-7619-868-1 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2020



To Whom It May Concern

Table of Contents

List of publications	8
Abbreviations	9
Background	
Cardiac arrest	
Post cardiac arrest syndrome	
Global anoxic brain injury	14
Target Temperature Management	
Awakening	
Prognostication	
Outcome	
cEEG after cardiac arrest	
Aims of the thesis	
Materials and methods	
The TTM-trial	
Ethics	
Patients	
Protocol	
Results	
Paper I	
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	44

Discussion	47
Awakening	47
Clinical seizures	48
cEEG as a bedside-tool in the ICU	49
Electrographic status epilepticus and serum biomarkers of brain injury	50
Limitations	51
Conclusions	53
Future directions	55
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	57
Acknowledgements	59
References	61

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

Ι	Time to awakening after cardiac arrest and the association with target temperature management. Resuscitation Lybeck A, Cronberg T, Aneman A, Hassager C, Horn, J, Hovednes M, Kjaergaard J, Kuiper M, Stammet P, Wise MP, Ullén S, Friberg H. Resuscitation 126: 166- 171 (2018)
II	Prognostic significance of clinical seizures after cardiac arrest and target temperature management. Lybeck A, Friberg H, Aneman A, Hassager C, Horn J, Kjaergaard J, Kuiper M, Nielsen N, Ullén S, Wise M, Westhall E, Cronberg T, and the TTM-trial Investigators. Resuscitation. 114:146-151 (2017)
III	Bedside interpretation of simplified continuous EEG after cardiac arrest. Lybeck A, Cronberg T, Borgquist O, Düring J, Mattiasson G, Piros D, Backman S, Friberg H, and Westhall E. Acta Anestesiologica Scandinavia. 64:85-92 (2020).
IV	Postanoxic electrographic status epilepticus and serum biomarkers of brain injury. Lybeck A, Friberg H, Cronberg T, Rundgren M and Westhall E. In manuscript.

All papers are reprinted with permission of the copyright owners.

Abbreviations

aEEG	amplitude integrated electroencephalography
ACNS	American Clinical Neurophysiology Society
BIS	bispectral index
cEEG	continuous electroencephalography
CI	confidence interval
CPC	cerebral performance category
CPR	cardiopulmonary resuscitation
СТ	computed tomography
ECG	electrocardiogram
EEG	electroencephalography
ESE	electrographic status epilepticus
FPR	false positive rate
GCS	Glasgow coma scale
GCSM	Glasgow coma scale motor score
GFAP	glial fibrillary acidic protein
ICU	intensive care unit
IHCA	in-hospital cardiac arrest
IQR	interquartile range
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
Nfl	neurofilament light chain
NSE	neuron specific enolase
OHCA	out-of-hospital cardiac arrest
PCAS	post cardiac arrest syndrome

PEA	pulseless electrical activity
RCT	randomized controlled trial
ROSC	return of spontaneous circulation
SSEP	somatosensory evoked potential
VF	ventricular fibrillation
VT	ventricular tachycardia
TTM	target temperature management
TTM33	target temperature management at 33°C
TTM36	target temperature management at 36°C
WLST	withdrawal of life supporting therapies

Background

Cardiac arrest is the cessation of cardiac mechanical activity. The arrest may be reversible or lead to death. If reversed, the arrest may have resulted in anoxic injury to the body. Due to its high metabolic rate and low energy stores, the brain is particularly susceptible to anoxia. This thesis concerns brain injury after out of hospital cardiac arrest in adults.

Cardiac arrest

Aetiology

The cause of the cardiac arrest is most commonly cardiac in origin, e.g. myocardial ischemia and infarction triggering ventricular fibrillation (VF) or pulseless ventricular tachycardia (VT). VF/VT may also occur as primary arrhythmias. Other causes of cardiac arrest are massive pulmonary embolus, hypovolemia, hypoxia, severe hypothermia, electrolyte disturbances and drug overdose¹.

Out of hospital cardiac arrest.

Cardiac arrest is often classified as out-of hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) and inhospital cardiac arrest (IHCA). The in-hospital location offers rapid access to medical services but the patient suffering the arrest is often critically ill. In OHCA a cardiac cause in a previously rather healthy individual is common. An OHCA carries a better prognosis if it occurs in a public place than if it occurs at home, likely due to availability of bystander CPR and possibly access to automated external defibrillators. The incidence of OHCA with attempted CPR in developed countries is about 50:100 000¹⁻³. Over the last 20 years, survival has improved. There has been an increase in patients admitted alive to hospital, and improved 30-day survival, likely due to improved bystander CPR, 30-day survival is about 10% and 90% of survivors are discharged from hospital with a good neurological outcome (CPC1-2)^{1, 3}.

Pathophysiology of cardiac arrest

Three phases of cardiogenic cardiac arrest have been described. 1) an *electrical phase* lasting for 4 minutes when defibrillation alone may achieve return of

spontaneous circulation (ROSC), 2) a longer *circulatory phase* during which chest compressions and the resultant coronary blood flow are required for successful defibrillation and 3) a *metabolic phase* that offers no chance of successful resuscitation. After 20-30 minutes without cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) myocardial changes become irreversible and the heart may manifest this in a final ischaemic contraction resulting in a stone heart⁴.

Primary rhythm

The first ECG rhythm seen during an arrest is currently classified as shockable VF/VT or as a non-shockable rhythm, i.e. asystole or pulseless electrical activity (PEA)⁵. A shockable rhythm carries a better prognosis than a non-shockable rhythm¹. PEA is a rhythm normally associated with cardiac output and may be difficult to differentiate from a low output state. PEA may carry a better prognosis than asystole⁶. There is a continuum of these cardiac rhythms as the amplitude VT/VT or PEA diminishes and asystole occurs. With successful CPR the process may reverse.

Cardiopulmonary resuscitation

The actions linking cardiac arrest with survival are illustrate in the "chain of survival" (fig 1). The current advanced life support algorithm (fig 2) emphasises uninterrupted CPR and early defibrillation. The drugs included in the algorithm improve short term survival but there is no evidence to suggest improved long-term neurological outcome⁷.



Figure 1: Chain of survival. Reprinted with permission.

Advanced Life Support



Figure 2. Adult advanced life support algorithm, European Ressuciation Guidelines 2015. Reprinted with permission.

Post cardiac arrest syndrome

Return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) after whole-body ischaemia creates a new disease state associated with global ischaemia and the re-perfusion injury caused by resuscitation, the post cardiac arrest syndrome (PCAS)⁸. The severity of PCAS will vary with the duration and cause of cardiac arrest and may not occur if the arrest was brief. The pathophysiological processes associated with ischaemia and reperfusion may be considered separate from the process precipitating the cardiac arrest, but clinically the processes overlap and PCAS is considered to have four components:

- post-cardiac arrest brain injury
- post-cardiac arrest myocardial dysfunction
- systemic ischaemia/reperfusion response
- persistent precipitating pathology

Myocardial dysfunction is common after cardiac arrest and typically starts to recover by 2–3 days, although full recovery may take longer. Cardiovascular failure accounts for most deaths on day 1-3, whereas brain injury (see below) accounts for most of the later deaths⁹. The systemic ischaemia/reperfusion after cardiac arrest activates immune and coagulation pathways contributing to multiple organ failure and increased risk of infection. PCAS has many sepsis-like features¹⁰ including intravascular volume depletion, vasodilation, endothelial injury and abnormalities of the microcirculation.

Global anoxic brain injury

The pathophysiology of anoxic brain injury is a "two-hit" model, consisting of primary injury from immediate cessation of blood flow during cardiac arrest and secondary injury occurring after resuscitation. The pathophysiological processes involved in anoxic brain injury has received a lot of research attention aiming at identifying therapeutic targets¹¹. Most notably, targeted temperature management (TTM) has been studied rigorously in preventing secondary injury.

Primary brain injury

Compared to other tissues, the metabolism of the brain is heavily dependent on oxygen and glucose. Within 2-3 minutes of cessation of blood flow ATP stores in the brain are almost completely depleted. The lack of ATP results in failure of membrane pumps and loss of membrane potentials, i.e. anoxic depolarisation of

neurones. Intra-cellular Ca²⁺ increases due to extracellular influx and release from intracellular stores. Ca²⁺ acts as an intracellular second messenger stimulating release of neurotransmitters including glutamate. As ATP is required for neurotransmitter re-uptake, these substances also accumulate extracellularly. If these excitotoxic mechanisms are not stopped, cell death will result within minutes due to activation of destructive lipases and proteases leading to apoptosis. Additional pathophysiological mechanisms contributing to the primary brain injury are: anaerobic metabolism resulting in lactic acidosis; elevated intracellular Na⁺ levels resulting in cytotoxic oedema, intracellular Ca²⁺ triggering mitochondrial dysfunction (i.e. more problems with ATP formation) and free radical formation¹². Clinical correlates of primary brain injury are loss of consciousness in 5-10 seconds and isoelectric electroencephalography (EEG) occur within 20 seconds^{13, 14}.

Secondary brain injury

After ROSC membrane potential and ATP are restored, but apoptosis and necrosis continue for hours or days, suggesting a therapeutic window for neuroprotective strategies. On a cellular level, restoration of blood flow to the brain triggers a secondary cascade of events including endothelial dysfunction (including microthrombi), free radical formation, intracellular Ca^{2+} accumulation, impaired NO, excitatory neurotransmitter release and altered gene expression¹².

The cerebral circulation is also affected after ROSC. Animal studies show that immediately after ROSC there is a short period of multifocal cerebral no-reflow followed by transient global cerebral hyperaemia¹⁵. During the following 24 hours, there is cerebral hypoperfusion while the cerebral metabolic rate gradually recovers¹⁵. After cardiac arrest, brain oedema may occur transiently after ROSC but it is rarely associated with clinically relevant increases in intracranial pressure¹⁶.

Further secondary brain injury may be caused by factors affecting oxygen delivery and use¹²:

- Endothelial dysfunction (microthrombi, vasoconstriction, blood-brainbarrier dysfunction) → decreased (inhomogenous) cerebral blood flow, vasogenic oedema
- Cerebral oedema (vasogenic and cytotoxic)→elevated ICP, rarely brain death
- Hyperoxia (O₂ free radicals) \rightarrow cell dysfunction and cell death
- Carbon dioxide \rightarrow vasodilation/vasoconstriction
- Anaemia
- Impaired autoregulation of cerebral blood flow (narrowed and right-shifted)→ cerebral hyperaemia or ischaemia

- Hyperthermia \rightarrow increased metabolic rate \rightarrow increased O₂ consumption
- Seizures \rightarrow increasing O₂ consumption

The above mechanisms are all targets for neuroprotective strategies or interventions during postresuscitation care. More or less evidence based management of these factors is recommended or suggested by guidelines ^{8, 17} and several neuroprotective interventions targeting these mechanisms have been investigated (see below). Additionally, high blood glucose and high variability in blood glucose are associated with poor neurological outcome¹⁸, but strict control of blood glucose was not beneficial in a RCT¹⁹.

Selective vulnerability of the brain

Structures especially susceptible to anoxic brain injury include the CA-1 (CA=cornu ammonis, shaped as the horn of Amun) region of the hippocampus, thalami, cerebral cortex, corpus striatum, and cerebellum, owing to highly metabolically active tissue^{20, 21}. The brainstem is by far the most resistant to injury. The selective vulnerability of the areas of the brain is reflected in the sequential recovery of brain functions in awakening (see below) and in defects in memory among patients who recover²².

Neuroprotective interventions

In the clinical setting, it is difficult to ascribe the anoxic brain injury to a single pathophysiological mechanism and interventions affecting a single mechanism have all been ineffective: calcium channel blockers^{23, 24}; thrombolysis²⁵; brain-derived neurotrophic factor²⁶; and a caspase-3 (a mediator in apoptosis) inhibitor²⁷. A few relatively non-specific interventions have yielded the most promising results: TTM (see below), xenon²⁸ and mild hypercapnia²⁹ may improve recovery. Other non-specific interventions have been investigated but no neuroprotective effect found: Coenzyme Q10³⁰, glucocorticoids^{31, 32} and a loading-dose of thiopental³³ or diazepam³⁴.

Target Temperature Management

In the late 1980s it was reported that mild therapeutic hypothermia, later renamed target temperature management (TTM), improved neurological outcome after cardiac arrest in dogs³⁵. Studies in several species on optimal level and timing of TTM followed³⁶. However, the mechanisms by which TTM attenuates brain injury remain incompletely understood, several pathways including effects on metabolism, inflammation, gene expression, Ca²⁺ signalling and excitotoxicity may be involved¹².

In 2002 two small clinical trials (n=77 and 275) reported improvement in survival and neurological function when unconscious patients with bystander witnessed OHCA of presumed cardiac origin and initial shockable rhythm, were cooled to 32-34°C for 12- 24 hours^{37, 38}. These results received worldwide attention and TTM at 32- 34°C was included in guidelines even for types of cardiac arrest not included in the studies. The International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (ILCOR)³⁹ and Cochrane reviews⁴⁰ recommended the intervention. However, the optimal target temperature was never defined and it was unclear whether the proposed intervention effect was simply due to fever avoidance as this was not treated in the control groups. Fever is common after cardiac arrest and is associated with poor neurological outcome⁴¹.

In 2012 a systematic review using GRADE methodology reported that the trials on hypothermia were at high risk of systematic error (bias), random errors (play of chance)⁴² and the Target Temperature Management-trial (TTM-trial) followed⁴³. The TTM-trial randomised 950 patients with OHCA with all types of initial cardiac rhythm to TTM at 33°C (TTM33) or 36°C (TTM36) with no difference in mortality or long-term neurological outcome. Currently guidelines recommend TTM at 32-36°C for at least 24 hours^{17, 44} but several questions regarding TTM remain unanswered including whether fever control is a sufficient measure to attenuate brain damage after cardiac arrest. The question is investigated in the ongoing TTM2-trail⁴⁵. A recent trial investigating effect of TTM33 vs targeted normothermia in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest with non-shockable rhythms found a higher percentage of patients with good neurological outcome with TTM33, but number of survivors were small⁴⁶.

Awakening

The natural course of recovery

Recovery of neurological function follows a distinct pattern and has been prospectively described in detail⁴⁷⁻⁵⁰. First the brain stem recovers with return of spontaneous breathing and cranial nerve reflexes. Extension pattern and defensive movement follows. Eventually consciousness recovers with a gradual return of speech, motor functions, orientation and memory. Most awakening takes place within 3 days after cardiac arrest⁵¹, but has been reported several weeks later^{49, 50, 52}.

Sedative drugs

Awakening is complicated by sedation required during TTM. In order for the patient to tolerate a lowered body temperature and reduce shivering, sedation is required for the duration of TTM. Drug metabolism is slower and more variable in the

critically ill as compared to healthy volunteers ⁵³ and a lowering of the body temperature decreases drug elimination^{54, 55}. Hence, sedation may linger after rewarming from TTM and discontinuation of sedation, and possibly delay awakening.

Prognostication

Most deaths in patients who initially survive cardiac arrest are attributed to brain injury, but only 2-10% of these deaths fulfil the criteria for brain death⁹. Instead most deaths result as a consequence of withdrawal of life sustaining therapies (WLST) when a poor neurological outcome is predicted. Accurate neurological prognostication is essential in order to both reduce the risk of a falsely pessimistic prediction and to avoid futile care in those who have no chance of recovery. For this reason a multimodal approach to neuroprognostication (fig 3) is recommended, including clinical examination, neurophysiological tests, imaging and serum biomarkers of brain injury^{17, 44, 56}.

Many studies on neuroprognostic markers are confounded by the *self-fulfilling prophecy*⁵⁷, which is a bias occurring when the treating physicians are not blinded to the results of the outcome predictor and use it to make a decision on WLST. Additionally, TTM has complicated neuroprognostication as sedatives may affect results of both clinical examination and neurophysiological tests⁵⁸.



Figure 3 : Suggested prognostication algorithm.

The algorithm is entered \geq 72 h after ROSC if, after the exclusion of confounders (particularly residual sedation), the patient remains unconscious with a Glasgow Motor Score of 1 or 2. The absence of pupillary and corneal reflexes, and/or bilaterally absent N20 SSEP wave indicates a poor outcome is very likely. If neither of the features is present, wait at least 24 h before reassessing. At this stage two or more of the following indicate that a poor outcome is likely: status myoclonus \leq 48 h; high neuron specific enolase values; unreactive EEG with burst suppression or status epilepticus; diffuse anoxic injury on brain CT and/or MRI. If none of these criteria are met consider continue to observe and re-evaluate From Sandroni C, Cariou A, Cavallaro F, *et al.* Prognostication in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: an advisory statement from the European Resuscitation Council and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Resuscitation. 2014;85:1779-89. Reprinted with permission.

Clinical examination

Levels of consciousness, brain stem reflexes and presence of clinical seizures are used in neuroprognostication. All these signs may be suppressed by sedatives or neuromuscular blocking drugs.

Absent or extensor motor response at 72 hours after ROSC has a high sensitivity (70-80%) for prediction of poor outcome, but the false positive rate (FPR) is also high (0-50%) in both non-TTM and TTM-treated patients⁵⁶. Still, the high sensitivity of this sign makes it useful to identify the population needing prognostication.

Bilateral absence of pupillary light reflex at 72h after cardiac arrest predicts poor outcome with FPR close to 0 and narrow 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) of

<10% in both TTM- treated and non-TTM-treated patients^{56, 59}. The predictive value of bilaterally absent corneal reflexes is similar^{56, 59}.

Clinical seizures may be myoclonic or tonic-clonic, focal or generalised and are diagnosed in up to one third of comatose survivors of cardiac arrest⁶⁰. Clinical seizures mav occur with or without epileptiform activity on the electroencephalogram (EEG). Other involuntary movements such as shivering can be misdiagnosed as seizures⁶¹. Myoclonic seizures are sudden, brief, involuntary muscle jerks associated with a poor prognosis⁶²⁻⁶⁵. Status myoclonus is a prolonged period of generalised myoclonus with a grave prognosis^{44, 56}. Status myoclonus of early onset was previously considered a reliable sign of poor prognosis, but cases with good outcomes have been reported among patients treated with TTM^{63, 65-68}. EEG may help identify cases with good outcomes⁶⁵. Action myoclonus persisting after awakening (Lance-Adams syndrome) is a rare condition occurring mainly after hypoxic cardiac arrest, and compatible with otherwise good neurological recovery⁶⁵, ^{69, 70}. Tonic-clonic seizures are less common than myoclonic seizures and are associated with a poor outcome^{71, 72}.

Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEP)

Median nerve SSEP tests the afferent sensory pathways and is elicited by stimulation of the nerve and responses registered along the pathway. The N20-response (contralateral sensory cerebral cortex) reflects thalamocortical projections. As early as 24 hours after cardiac arrest bilaterally absent N20 potentials predict a poor outcome with FPR 0% (95%CI 0-2%), but sensitivity is low (<50%)⁵⁶ and cases of false positive SSEP have been reported⁷³⁻⁷⁵. A study investigating the natural course of comatose survivors of cardiac arrest admitted to neurorehabilitation, found a small number patients with bilaterally absent N20 potentials who recovered over weeks with a good neurological outcome⁵². SSEP is not affected by sedation at doses used during TTM. Interrater variability of SSEP interpretation is moderate to good^{75, 76} and affected by noise⁷⁵.

Electroencephalography (EEG)

EEG provides immediate examination of the cerebral cortex regarding background activity and seizures. During cardiac arrest the EEG is suppressed (flat) and this pattern may persist for hours or days after ROSC. Recovery begins with intermittent discontinuous cortical activity followed by continuous activity^{49, 50}. Body temperature at recommended levels of TTM does not affect the EEG⁷⁷ but sedation may suppress both EEG background activity and epileptiform discharges.

Intermittent full-montage EEG (16-21 electrodes according to the international 10-20 system recorded for 20-30 minutes) is the most commonly used tool to assess prognosis after cardiac arrest⁷⁸. Continuous EEG (cEEG) is increasingly used in the ICU (see below). The lack of standardized EEG terminology, both in studies and in

clinical practice, is a limitation. Currently the EEG classification proposed by the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society is favoured⁷⁹, figure 4. The prognostic value of an EEG recording will be affected by its timing in relation to ROSC and sedation, interpretation is also subject to interrater variability⁸⁰.



Figure 4 Common EEG features after cardiac arrest.

Criteria for background voltage and suppression-ratio (proportion of recordning that constitutes suppression periods) accordning to ACNS EEG terminology. Reprinted with permission.

<u>Early return of a continuous EEG background</u> is predictive of a good outcome ⁸¹⁻⁸³. Similarly, a suppressed or low-voltage background >24 hours after cardiac arrest is a marker of poor prognosis⁸⁴⁻⁸⁷, but studies are hampered by inconsistent definitions of "low-voltage".

<u>Burst-suppression</u> is usually a transient finding during cerebral recovery. During the first 24–48 h after cardiac arrest burst-suppression is compatible with good neurological outcome in both patients treated with TTM and those not^{85, 88, 89}. However, at \geq 72 h a persisting burst-suppression pattern is consistently associated with poor outcome^{72, 81, 82}. Burst-suppression with identical bursts⁹⁰ or in combination with electrographic status epilepticus⁸¹ have a very high specificity for prediction of poor outcome.

<u>Absence of EEG reactivity</u>, predicts poor outcome in many studies ^{87, 91, 88, 92}, is associated with higher NSE levels⁸⁸ and is included in guidelines on neuroprognostication when it occurs in combination with ESE or burst suppression

background^{17, 44}. However, there is a lack of standardized stimulation to provoke EEG reactivity, a high interrater variability in interpretation^{80, 93} and high FPRs have been reported (0-30%)^{87, 91}. A recent international consensus report on EEG reactivity after cardiac arrest as a prognostic tool concluded that evidence was limited⁹³. Early EEG reactivity to external stimuli may be a marker of good outcome⁹².

<u>Electrographic status epilepticus (ESE)</u> occurs in up to one third of comatose survivor of cardiac arrest and is associated with poor prognosis⁹⁴. A subgroup of patients recover with a good outcome, these patients have other prognostic markers indicative of a good outcome⁵⁹. There is lack of agreement on the definition of ESE. ACNS has defined periodic and rhythmic patterns that may represent seizures, and strict criteria for unequivocal seizures and ESE⁷⁹. However, in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest no difference in outcome was found between patients with strictly defined unequivocal electrographic status epilepticus and those with possible seizure patterns along the ictal-interictal continuum⁹⁵. ESE is an independent predictor of poor outcome^{94, 96}. It may be that ESE is simply a marker of severe brain injury or it may cause further brain injury, e.g. seizures are associated with increased metabolic rate⁹⁷ and elevated levels of biomarkers of neuronal injury in cerebrospinal fluid⁹⁸ and serum⁹⁹. Treatment of seizures is recommended by expert advice^{17, 44}, awaiting results from randomized trials¹⁰⁰.

Imaging

All studies on imaging as a tool in prognostication after cardiac arrest had a small sample size, most were retrospective, and imaging was requested at the discretion of the treating physician, which may have caused a selection bias and overestimated their performance. Nevertheless, computed tomography (CT) magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may serve as adjuctive tools and are included in guidelines^{17, 44}.

The anoxic brain injury in the grey matter of the cortex, thalamus and basal ganglia can be seen on CT as oedema, which appears as a reduction in the depth of cerebral sulci and an attenuation of the grey matter/white matter interface, due to a decreased density of the grey matter, which has been quantitatively measured as the ratio between the grey matter and the white matter densities. CT is commonly performed⁷⁸ and studies suggest that CT head may be an early predictor of outcome ^{44, 101, 102}. CT can also provide information on structural lesions, e.g. to rule out haemorrhage or a c-spine injury.

Advantages of MRI over brain CT include a better spatial definition and a high sensitivity for identifying ischaemic brain injury¹⁰³. MRI can reveal extensive changes when results of other predictors such as SSEP or ocular reflexes are normal¹⁰⁴. MRI Diffusion Weighted Imaging (DWI) detects diffusion of water molecules and is sensitive to detection of cytotoxic oedema, which reduces

diffusivity. Cytotoxic oedema begins at cardiac arrest, peaks at day 3 and then disappears gradually by day 7-10. MRI Fluid Attenuation Inversion Recovery (FLAIR) employs the water content of tissue, but discards the influence of the cerebrospinal fluid. Therefore, MRI-FLAIR is sensitive to detection of cytotoxic and vasogenic cerebral oedema. FLAIR changes appear on day 1-2 (early vasogenic oedema) and remain for weeks (later changes associated with gliosis).

Biomarkers

Biomarkers of brain injury in serum give a quantitative result and are unaffected by sedative drugs. Disadvantages include lack of clear cut-offs for predicting outcome.

Neuron specific enolase (NSE) is an intracellular enzyme of glycolysis present in neurons and neuroendocrine cells but also in erythrocytes and platelets, which is a source of error in haemolysis. Cut-off levels to predict a poor outcome with 0% FPR varies between studies, mainly due to different sampling time points and laboratory methods¹⁰⁵. A rise in NSE from 24h to 48h may indicate a poor prognosis^{106, 107}. Similarly, a decrease may indicate good prognosis¹⁰⁸. NSE is included in current guidelines^{17, 44}.

Several novel biomarkers of brain injury have been investigated including neurofilament light chain (Nfl) and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP). Neurofilament light chain (Nfl) is a novel biomarker of neuronal injury and a robust predictor of poor outcome after cardiac arrest already at 24 hours¹⁰⁹. After neuronal injury, serum Nfl levels rise rapidly¹¹⁰ and levels remain elevated for prolonged periods (weeks)¹¹¹. Unlike NSE, Nfl-levels are not falsely elevated by haemolysis. Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) is a marker of astroglial cell injury with prognostic value after cardiac arrest¹¹². Serum GFAP rises rapidly after cardiac arrest¹¹³ and its half-life is long, up to 48 hours¹¹¹.

Outcome

Survival is a robust outcome measure, but will be affected by both WLST and the time point at which survival is recorded. WLST will also affect the overall neurological outcome of survivors, as more patients with severe disability will survive without WLST.

Neurological recovery continues for at least 6 months, with most recovery within the first 3 months post-arrest¹¹⁴. Neurological outcome is commonly reported using the Cerebral Performance Category (CPC) scale (table 1)¹¹⁵.

Outcome is often dichotomised (table 1) into good or poor neurological outcome and cut offs have varied over time. According to these definitions, most survivors

of cardiac arrest have good neurological outcome, but cognitive defects (memory) and symptoms of depression and anxiety are common¹¹⁶⁻¹¹⁸.

Outcome	Cerebral Performance Category	
Good	CPC1 Good cerebral performance: conscious, alert, able to work, might have mild neurologic or psychologic deficit.	
6000	CPC2 Moderate cerebral disability: conscious, sufficient cerebral function for independent activities of daily life. Able to work in sheltered environment.	
	CPC3 Severe cerebral disability: conscious, dependent on others for daily support because of impaired brain function. Ranges from ambulatory state to severe dementia or paralysis.	
Poor	CPC4 Coma or vegetative state: any degree of coma without the presence of all brain death criteria. Unawareness, even if appears awake (vegetative state) without interaction with environment; may have spontaneous eye opening and sleep/awake cycles. Cerebral unresponsiveness.	
	CPC5 Dead	

Table 1. Cerebral Performance Category (CPC) scale

cEEG after cardiac arrest

Guidelines recommend use of continuous electroencephalography (cEEG) monitoring in the intensive care unit (ICU)^{44, 119-122}. In comatose patients after cardiac arrest, cEEG monitoring may be used for detection of electrographic seizure activity and to assist in neuroprognostication^{119, 123}. Full-montage cEEG monitoring in the ICU is challenging¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶ due to logistic reasons, lack of EEG technicians and EEG-experts especially outside office hours, and high costs¹²⁷.

Simplified cEEG methodology

Simplified cEEG can be applied by trained bed-side staff and preliminary cEEG interpretations be performed by ICU physicians awaiting review by an EEG-expert when available e.g. during office hours¹²⁸. For this purpose, various simplified cEEG montages have been proposed¹²⁹.

Patients in coma after cardiac arrest may be particularly suitable for a reduced EEG montage despite its impaired spatial resolution, due to the global nature of hypoxic brain injury. Recent studies using simplified cEEG montages after cardiac arrest have shown a high sensitivity (>90%) to detect seizure activity¹³⁰⁻¹³² and preserved prognostic accuracy¹³³ compared to a full-lead montage.

Trend analysis

cEEG monitoring generates large amounts of data and quantitative measurements displayed as time-compressed trends have been developed to ease interpretation

over longer time-periods. One such measure is amplitude-integrated EEG (aEEG), which has been used in the post cardiac arrest setting^{82, 134}. Other quantitative measures investigated after cardiac arrest are suppression ratio (degree of EEG background continuity), bispectral index (BIS)¹³⁵⁻¹³⁷ and entropy¹³⁸. Recently EEG analysis by machine learning have shown promising results^{139, 140}.

Aims of the thesis

The overall aim of the thesis was to evaluate neuroprognostic markers used in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest in the ICU. This thesis reflects the close collaboration between the anesthesiologists, neurologists and clinical neurophysiologists.

- I To investigate time until awakening after cardiac arrest at two different levels of TTM, including any association between time until awakening and long-term neurological outcome, type, and dose of sedative drugs. Additionally, independent predictors of late awakening were investigated.
- II To investigate the incidence and prognostic significance of clinical seizures during the first 7 days after cardiac arrest in the ICU, any interaction with level of TTM and associated EEG findings.
- III To investigate whether basic features of a simplified cEEG can be interpreted by an ICU physician after a short training, and whether acceptable interrater agreement compared to an EEG-expert can be achieved.
- **IV** To explore the effects of postanoxic status epilepticus on serum levels of biomarkers of brain injury.

Materials and methods

All four papers included in this thesis used data collected during the TTM-trial⁴³. Details of materials and methods are described in each paper.

Paper	1	Ш	Ш	IV
Design	Post hoc analysis of a multicentre, randomised trial	Post hoc analysis of a multicentre, randomised trial	Prospective	Post hoc analysis of a multicentre, randomised trial
Study population	OHCA of presumed cardiac cause, managed with TTM at 33°C or 36°C 2010-2013 n=939			TTM at 33°C
	Patients who awoke	All	Monitored with cEEG at 3 trial sites	Monitored with cEEG and serum biomarkers samples at 5 trial sites
Participants	n=496	n=939	71 cEEG (37 patients) 5 ICU- physicians 1 EEG- expert	n=128

Table 1. Overview of study design

The TTM-trial

The TTM-trial⁴³, was an international, randomized, parallel group, assessor-blinded trial designed to evaluate outcome in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest after TTM at 33°C. or 36°C. It enrolled 950 adult (\geq 18 years) patients in 26 months 2010–2013. The modified intention to treat group included 473 patients at 33°C and 476 at 36°C. Trial data were obtained from 36 intensive care units in Europe and Australia with no difference in end-of-trial mortality or 180-day neurological outcome between intervention arms.

Ethics

For the main TTM-trial ethical approval was obtained in each country. Consent was obtained or waived according to local regulations. The trial was monitored according to Good Clinical Practise. For III additional ethical approval was sought.

Patients

Adult unconscious survivors of cardiac arrest. Inclusion criteria in the TTM-trial were: \geq 18 years; OHCA of presumed cardiac origin; GCS>8; sustained ROSC (<20 min). Exclusion criteria were: pregnancy, known bleeding diathesis, suspected or confirmed intracranial bleeding, suspected or confirmed acute stroke, unwitnessed asystole, known limitations in care, known disease making 180 day survival unlikely, pre-arrest CPC3-4, >240 minutes since cardiac arrest, temperature <30 °C, systolic blood pressure < 80mmHg despite fluid, vasopressor, inotropes or aortic balloon pump.

Protocol

The TTM-trial study protocol time-line for the first 108 hours is summarised in figure 5. After randomisation to TTM33 or TTM36, patients were sedated, endotracheally intubated and mechanically ventilated. Choice of sedative was not protocolized. Temperature was managed with an external or internal device. Patients randomised to TTM33 were cooled as rapidly as possible using cold-fluids, ice packs or a cooling device. Patients randomised to TTM36 who initially had a lower temperature, was allowed to rewarm passively. After the intervention period patients were re-warmed at ≤ 0.5 °C/hour. After rewarming sedation was stopped,

unless required for other medical reasons. A body temperature of $<37.5^{\circ}$ C was maintained for unconscious patients.



Figure 5 TTM-trial study protocol time-line 0 to 108 hours

After ROSC (defined as 20min of spontaneous circulation) there was a 4 h inclusion window. The intervention period was divided into 3 periods: (a) achievement of target temperature (4 h), (b) maintenance of target temperature (24 h) and (c) rewarming to 37 °C (8 h). After 36 h, sedation was stopped unless continued for medical reasons, at the discretion of the treating physician. cEEG-monitoring was started after patients were stabilized in the ICU.

Neuroprognostication and WLST

In the TTM-trial there was strict criteria for WLST. All patients were actively treated until 72 hours after normothermia (108 hours after randomization). Neuroprognostication was protocolized and performed by a physician blinded to level of TTM. Serum biomarkers were not part of neuroprognostication.

At 72 hours after normothermia, WLST was permitted in:

- 1. persisting coma with GCS-M 1-2 and bilateral absence of N20-peaks on SSEP.
- 2. persisting coma with a GCS-M 1-2 and a treatment refractory status epilepticus

Earlier WLST was permitted in:

- 1. Brain death due to cerebral herniation.
- 2. Status myoclonus in the first 24 hours after admission and a bilateral absence of N20-peak on median nerve SSEP.
- 3. Ethical reasons (e.g. previously unknown information about disseminated end-stage cancer or refractory shock with end-stage multiorgan failure)

Patients with GCS-M 1-2 at 72 h after normothermia who had preserved N20-peak on the SSEP, or in hospitals where SSEP was not available, were re-examined daily

and limitations in care/WLST considered if GCS-M did not improve and metabolic and pharmacological effects were ruled out.

Long-term neurological outcome

180-day neurological outcome was assessed by a face-to-face interview using the CPC scale. Survival status was obtained from hospital or civil registers. A poor outcome was defined as CPC3-5.

Awakening (I)

Awakening in the ICU was defined as GCS motor score 6, i.e. obeying command, which was registered daily in the ICU. In patients who awoke after ICU discharge, no exact day of awakening was available. Instead, the CPC score collected at hospital discharge and at 180-days were used, CPC 1–3 was considered awake. Early awakening was defined as awakening on day 1–4, before the time of the scheduled neurological prognostication. Awakening on day 5 or later was defined as late awakening.

Sedation (I)

Choice of sedative drugs, neuromuscular blocking agents and sedation monitoring scales were not protocolized. Data on sedative drugs and use of sedation monitoring scales were retrospectively collected from trial sites via online questionaires (2015–2016). Cumulative doses of sedative drugs were collected at 12, 24 and 48 h.

Clinical seizures (II)

Clinical seizures were reported on a daily basis during day 1–7 in the ICU. In the electronic case report form seizures were classified as myoclonic or tonic-clonic, focal or generalised, and duration of seizure as less than or more than 30 minutes. Treatment of seizures was not protocolized but recorded daily and separately for myoclonic and tonic-clonic seizures. Status myoclonus was defined as generalised (face and extremities) myoclonic convulsions of >30 minutes duration and tonic-clonic seizures of >30 minutes duration.

Biomarkers (IV)

Serum samples were collected at 24, 48, and 72 hours after return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC). All samples were preanalytically processed at trial sites, aliquoted, and frozen to -80° C before shipment to the Integrated BioBank of Luxembourg for batch analysis after trial completion. For details on individual biomarker analysis, see paper IV.

Full-montage cEEG (II)

A full-montage EEG) was recorded in patients remaining in coma 12–36 h after rewarming and when clinically indicated. The EEG was recorded using 16 electrodes+reference+ground, for 20-30 minutes with testing for reactivity. Interpretations of the EEG recordings were done by the local EEG-experts at the trial sites and reported prospectively.

Simplified cEEG (III, IV)

Monitoring with simplified cEEG was performed at six European trial-sites. cEEGmonitoring was started by the ICU staff after patients were stabilized in the ICU. ICU staff were blinded to the cEEG recording. Patients were monitored with Nicolet One monitors (Viasys Health care) with a simplified cEEG montage displaying two bipolar channels according to the 10–20 system (F3-P3 and F4-P4 (figure 6). All EEG interpretation was performed by review of the original EEG-signal.



Figure 6 cEEG montage with an example of simplified continuous EEG recording:

F3, P3, F4, P4, reference Cz, ground Fz. The upper curves display the left and the right time-compressed aEEG, the y-axis displays the semilogarithmic μ V scale. The shaded aEEG marks the time span of the aEEG corresponding to the original EEG below. The lower part displays the original EEG recording from the left and the right hemispheres; each division represents 1 sec.
Electrographic status epilepticus (IV)

An EEG-expert interpreted cEEG at 12, 24, 36, 48, 60 and 72 hours after cardiac arrest. ESE was defined as:

- Regularly appearing (=periodic or rhythmic) epileptiform discharges at ≥1Hz continuously (≥90%) appearing during a 30-minute-period.
- Unequivocal electrographic seizure activity, constituting <50% of a 30minute-period (≥10 second duration generalized rhythmic epileptiform discharges ≥3Hz) OR clearly evolving discharges of any type reaching >4Hz, according to the EEG criteria of the American Clinical Neurophysiology Society 2012 version.
- Unequivocal electrographic status epilepticus with unequivocal seizure activity constituting \geq 50% of a 30-minute-period.

For patients with ESE, a control group matched for severity of brain injury was found by propensity score matching using known early (before onset of ESE) independent predictors of neurological outcome.

Interpretation of simplified cEEG by ICU physicians (III)

Five ICU physicians received training in interpretation of simplified cEEG - total training duration 1 day. The ICU physicians then interpreted 71 simplified cEEG recordings from 37 comatose survivors of cardiac arrest, from 3 TTM-trial sites. Patients were included if motor phenomena indicating possible seizures were observed during the first two days after cardiac arrest, type of suspected seizure movement was not reported. This selection was made primarily for statistical reasons to increase the number of cEEG recordings with electrographic seizures, but also mimicking the set of patients to whom the physician is called bedside to evaluate motor phenomena, a common task during postresuscitation care.

The cEEG included amplitude-integrated EEG trends and two channels with original EEG-signals. Basic EEG background patterns and presence of epileptiform discharges or seizure activity were assessed on 5-grade rank-ordered scales based on standardized EEG terminology (figure 7). Reported cEEG background patterns were also dichotomized as continuous/nearly continuous background versus the non-continuous background patterns discontinuous, burst-suppression or suppressed background, reflecting likely good or poor neurological outcome. Similarly, reported discharge patterns were dichotomized to include patterns indicating possible or definitive electrographic seizures versus patterns without seizures. An EEG-expert was used as reference. Interrater statistics were used.



Figure 7 Pre-specified, rank-ordered cEEG patterns

Background (with or without superimposed discharges): 1) Continuous or nearly continuous normal-voltage background >20μV constituting ≥90% of the 30 minute-period (includes nearly continuous background with suppression periods constituting <10% of the recording); 2) Continuous or nearly continuous low-voltage background with most or all activity 10-20μV; 3) Discontinuous background (suppression periods <10μV constituting 10-49%);4) Burst-suppression (suppression periods <10μV constituting 50-99%); 5) Suppression with extremely low-voltage EEG background (peak-to-peak amplitude <10μV in both channels, 100% of the 30-minute-period).

<u>Epileptiform discharges</u>: A) No discharges or sporadic epileptiform discharges, i.e. sharp waves and spikes, at <0.1Hz; B) Abundant epileptiform discharges ≥0.1Hz during a 30-minute-period; C) Possible electrographic status epilepticus = Regularly appearing (=periodic or rhythmic) epileptiform discharges at ≥1Hz continuously (≥90%) appearing during a 30-minute-period; D) Unequivocal electrographic seizure activity, constituting <50% of a 30-minute-period (≥10 second duration generalized rhythmic epileptiform discharges ≥3Hz OR clearly evolving discharges of any type reaching >4Hz); E) Unequivocal electrographic status epilepticus with unequivocal seizure activity constituting ≥50% of a 30-minute-period.

Results

Paper I

539 patients awoke (262 managed at TTM33 and 277 at TTM36), of whom 496 patients had registered day of awakening in the ICU (235 managed at TTM33 and 261 at TTM36). 43 patients awoke after discharge from ICU with no exact day of awakening available.

TTM33 vs TTM36

Awakening occurred later in TTM33 (median 4, IQR 3–6) than in TTM36 (median 4, IQR 3–5), p=0.002 (figure 8), these results remained when a competing risk analysis for risk of awakening including risk of death was performed.



Figur 8 Daily awakening in patients treated at TTM33 and TTM36

Early vs late awakening

Among 496 patients with registered day of awakening, 188 (38%) had a late awakening (\geq day 5), the last awakening was on day 22 (figure 9). Life table survival analysis shows decreasing chances of awakening during day 1–22 (figure 10). The following independent predictors of late awakening were identified by multivariate

analysis: TTM33 (p = 0.006), clinical seizures before awakening (p = 0.004) and lower level of consciousness on admission before administration of sedatives (p=0.03). Age was not an independent predictor of late awakening (p=0.08). BMI and renal failure on admission (eGFR<60) were not predictors of late awakening.



Figure 9 Daily status of TTM-trial patients (n = 939): coma, awakening and death on day 1-22.



Figure 10 Cumulative probability of awakening, i.e. chances of awakening after this day.

Awakening and long-term neurological outcome

In patients who awoke, there was no significant difference in long-term neurological outcome between TTM33 and TTM36, p=0.12. The Spearman correlation between day of awakening and neurological outcome was 0.20 (95%CI 0.12–0.29), p<0.001. A good long-term neurological outcome was more common among patients with early awakening, 275/308 (89%), as compared to those with late awakening 142/188 (76%) (p<0.001). Seven patients awoke on day 15–22, three had a good neurological outcome. In patients who awoke, neuroprognostication was more commonly performed in the group managed at TTM33 (46/261, 18%) than TTM36 (29/278, 10%). At neuroprognostication, a recommendation to continue active care was issued in 39/46 (85%) patients managed at TTM33 and 26/29 (90%) at TTM36.

Sedation

Data on sedative drugs and sedation monitoring scales were collected from 21/36 trials sites in 352/496 (71%) patients. From sites with reported sedation, data was available for 352/381 patients (92%). There were no statistically significant differences in cumulative doses of the main sedatives used (propofol, midazolam, morphine, fentanyl or remifentanil) at 12, 24 or 48 h between TTM33 and TTM36. 19/20 trial-sites reported use of sedation monitoring scales.

Paper II

Patients with clinical seizures were older, less likely to have a witnessed arrest, receive bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), and have a first monitored shockable rhythm and their time to ROSC was longer.

TTM33 vs TTM36

In patients with clinical seizures, there were no differences in background characteristics, frequency of clinical seizures (table 2) or outcome between the two intervention groups TTM33 and TTM36 regardless of seizure subtype.

Incidence of seizures

Table 2. Frequency of clinical seizures.

Some patients exhibited a combination of myoclonic and tonic-clonic seizures, hence the sum of patients with tonicclonic and myoclonic seizures is greater than the total number of patients with seizures. Status was defined as generalised seizures of >30 minutes duration.

Seizure type	TTM33 (n=473)	TTM36 (n=466)	All (n=939)	р
Any seizure	147 (31%)	121 (26%)	268 (29%)	0.08
Myoclonic	132 (28%)	108 (23%)	240 (26%)	0.10
Status myoclonus	37 (8%)	36 (8%)	73 (8%)	1.00
Focal myoclonus	48 (10%)	33 (7%)	81(8%)	0.10
Tonic-Clonic	37 (8%)	34 (7%)	71 (8%)	0.81
Tonic-clonic status	12 (3%)	8 (2%)	20 (2%)	0.50
Focal tonic-clonic seizures	6 (1%)	5 (1%)	11 (1%)	1.00
Combination ¹	22 (5%)	21 (5%)	43(5%)	1.00

Outcome and prognostic value

A poor 180-day neurological outcome occurred more often in patients with myoclonus than tonic-clonic seizures (178/197 (90%) vs. 20/27 (74%), p=0.02). Patients with a combination of seizure types had a similar rate of poor outcome as those with isolated myoclonic seizures (40/43 (93%), p = 0.77). Twenty-nine of 268 patients (11%) with seizures had a good outcome. One patient had early onset status myoclonus and a good 180-day neurological outcome. For predictive values, see table 3.

The Kaplan–Meier survival-curves for patients with different seizure types differed (figure 11). Eighteen patients with status myoclonus had WLST due to early status myoclonus and bilaterally absent N20 potentials.

Table 3. Seizures to predict a poor neurological outcome (CPC3-5)

Data are given in numbers and percentages. CPC, cerebral performing category; CI, confidence interval; FPR, false positive rate; TP, true positive; FP, false positive; TN, true negative; FN, false negative. a) First seizure on day 1–2. b) First seizure on day 3–7.

Seizure type	Tested patients (n)	TP (n)	FP (n)	TN (n)	FN (n)	Sensitivity % (95%Cl)	FPR % (95%Cl)
Any seizure	933	238	29	411	255	48.2% (43.8- 52.8)	6.6% (4.6-9.3)
Early seizures ^{a)}	933	121	12	480	372	24.5% (20.8-28.6)	2.7% (1.5-4.8)
Late seizures ^{b)}	933	117	17	423	376	23.7%(20-27.7)	3.9% (2.4-6.1)
Myoclonus (non- status & status)	933	178	19	421	315	36.1% (31.9-40.5)	4.3% (2.7-6.7)
Status myoclonus	933	60	1	439	433	12.2% (9.4-15.3)	0.2% (0.0-1.0)
Early status myoclonus	933	28	1	439	465	5.7% (3.8-8.1)	0.2 % (0.0-1.4)
Tonic-clonic seizures (non- status & status)	933	20	7	433	473	4.1% (2.5-6.2)	1.5% (0.7-3.3)
Tonic- clonic Status	933	9	0	440	484	1.8% (0.8-3.4)	0% (0-1.0)
Combination of seizure types	933	40	3	437	453	8.1% (5.9-10.9)	0.7% (0.1-2.1)



Figure 11 Kaplan–Meier survival curves.

(A) Kaplan–Meier Survivial Curve of all TTM-trial patients. Overall, curves differ significantly (p<0.0001). Curves for combination and myoclonus are similar (p=0.33). (B) Kaplan–Meier Survival Curves of patients with myoclonus (excl. patients with a combination of seizure types). Curves differ significantly (p<0.0001).

EEG

EEG was available for 187/268 (70%) patients with clinical seizures. EEG interpretations were similar in patients with myoclonic, tonic-clonic and a combination of seizure types (p=0.48). The most common EEG finding was an epileptiform EEG found in 83/187 (44%) patients. An unreactive EEG was a common finding among patients with myoclonus status or tonic-clonic status. Patients without EEG (69/268, 26%) had a lower end-of- trial-mortality, less often seizures of >30 min duration.

Treatment of seizures

Myoclonus and tonic-clonic seizures received similar treatment consisting f increasing ongoing sedatives, addition of other sedatives and addition of antiepileptic agents. The most commonly used drugs were: propofol, midazolam and fos-phenytoin.

Paper III

cEEG findings

Table 4. Frequency of reported cEEG findings

Reported findings	EEG-expert		5 ICU physicians, median (rang	
	n	%	n	%
EEG Background				
1. Continuous >20μV	31	44%	35 (26-37)	49% (37-52%)
2. Continuous 10-20μV	5	7%	7 (5-8)	10% (7-11%)
3. Discontinuous	13	18%	8 (4-14)	11% (6-20%)
4. Burst-Suppression	16	23%	15 (10-17)	21% (14-24%)
5. Suppression	6	8%	10 (5-15)	14% (7-21%)
Epileptiform discharges				
A. No or sporadic discharges	37	52%	39 (30-47)	55% (42-66%)
B. Abundant discharges	16	22%	13 (11-22)	18% (15-31%)
C. Possible status epilepticus	10	14%	9 (6-12)	13% (8-17%)
D. Definitive seizures	6	8%	5 (2-8)	7% (3-11%)
E. Definitive status epilepticus	2	3%	3 (1-5)	4% (1-7%)

Interrater agreement – ICU physician versus neurophysiologist

Interrater agreement for the prespecified categories is presented in table 5. Identification of a continuous EEG background yielded substantial agreement (κ 0.69) and was detected with median sensitivity 86% (95%CI 71-95%) and specificity 74% (95%CI 57-88%). For detection of epileptiform patterns representing possible or definitive seizure activity agreement was fair (κ 0.39), these patterns were detected with median sensitivity 50% (95% CI 44-65%) and specificity 87% (95% CI 82-90%).

Table 5. Interrater agreement of ICU physicians versus neurophysiologist.

N=71 cEEGs. Percentage agreement and kappa (κ) for the reported prespecified EEG patterns, presented as median (range) among the 5 pairs formed by the 5 ICU physicians and the neurophysiologist. ^{*a*} ICU physician reported a pattern in an adjacent rank-ordered category, e.g. the neurophysiologist reported burst-suppression and the ICU physician reported either discontinuous or suppressed background ^{*b*} continuous EEG background vs non-continuous (discontinuous, burst-suppression or suppressed) background. ^{*c*} possible status epilepticus, unequivocal seizures or unequivocal status epilepticus vs none to abundant discharges (<1Hz).

	Percent agreement 5 pairs median (range)	Kappa 5 pairs median (range)	Strength of interrater agreement (kappa)
Background EEG pattern			
Identical pattern	69 % (60-73%)	0.69 (0.61-0.73)	Substantial
Adjacent pattern ^a	87% (80-89%)	-	-
Identification of continuous EEG background ^b	85% (77-90%)	0.69 (0.57-0.80)	Substantial
Epileptiform discharges			
Identical discharge pattern	62% (56-63%)	0.43 (0.38-0.49)	Moderate
Adjacent pattern ^a	83% (82-87%)	-	-
Identification of patterns consistent with status epilepticus ^c	79% (73-83%)	0.39 (0.31-0.57)	Fair

Interrater agreement – among ICU physicians

Among the five ICU physicians there was substantial agreement κ 0.63 (range 0.44-0.73) for reporting identical background patterns and moderate agreement κ 0.54 (range 0.45-0.62) for classification of epileptiform discharges. When background was dichotomized into continuous versus non-continuous background agreement was substantial κ 0.68 (range 0.43-0.72). Epileptiform discharges representing possible or definitive seizure activity), were detected with moderate agreement κ 0.54 (range 0.42-0.68)

Paper IV

At the six trial sites with cEEG monitoring, 134/302 patients were monitored with cEEG. Nfl and GFAP were analyzed in 128/134 patients, not all 128 patients had biomarkers sampled and analyzed at all time points. 26/128 patients developed ESE. 18 patients developed ESE by 24 hours, 6 at 24-48 hours and 2 by 48-72 hours.

Nfl

In multivariate analysis ESE was an independent predictor of serum Nfl levels at 72 hours (p<0.001). When compared to the matched control group, serum levels of Nfl were significantly higher in patient with ESE at 72 hours after cardiac arrest (median 4358 (IQR1720-5364) vs 142 (43-2661) pg/mL, p=0.03, figure 12). Although

numerically higher, statistical significance was not reached at 24 hours (2227 (1341-4760) vs 391 (38-3286), p=0.30) or 48 hours (3803 (1647-8035) vs 130 (39-8144), p=0.40) (figure 12).

GFAP

In multivariate analysis, ESE was not an independent predictors of serum GFAP at 72 hours. When compared to the matched control group, serum levels of GFAP were significantly higher in patient with ESE at 72 hours after cardiac arrest (median 117 (IQR 71-305) vs 106 (31-965) ng/mL, p=0.04, figure 12). Levels were not significantly higher at 24 hours (76 (53-145) vs 106 (31-965), p=0.64) or 48 hours (122 (82-229) vs 95 (19-723), p=0.40) (figure 12).



Figure 12 Serum levels of Nfl and GFAP (pg/mL) at 24, 48, 72 hours after cardiac arrest in patients who have developed ESE before time point of blood sample vs their matched controls. The lower boundary of the boxes indicate the 25th percentile; horizontal line within the box, median; higher boundary of the box, 75th percentile; error bars, 90th and 10th percentiles.

Discussion

Paper I-IV all use data collected during the TTM-trial. Results are strengthened by the large number of patients in the multicentre TTM-trial, the extensive prospective data collection and strict criteria for WLST.

Awakening

Paper I is the largest prospective study on awakening after cardiac arrest and TTM. Awakening was delayed (\geq day 5) in 38% of patients who awoke and neurological outcome was good in 76% of late awakeners.

Awakening occurred later in TTM33 than in TTM36, confirming results of an earlier, smaller study¹⁴¹. Additionally, in multivariate analysis, TTM33 was an independent predictor of late awakening. If sedation is not prolonged for medical reasons, time of awakening after cardiac arrest will vary due to severity of brain injury, duration of TTM including the re-warming phase, type and dose of sedation and effects of TTM on pharmacokinetics of sedative drugs. The background variables analyzed in paper I did not suggest a more severe brain injury as the cause of later awakening in TTM33 and there were no differences in administered sedative drugs at 0-48 hours. These results suggest that the slowing effects lower body temperature on pharmacokinetics⁵⁴ may contribute to the later awakening in TTM33.

Delayed awakening may put patients at higher risk of WLST, stressing the importance of timely multimodal neuroprognostication^{17, 44}. Indeed, neuroprognostication was more commonly performed in TTM33, but recommendation to continue active intensive care was also more commonly issued for these patients. This is consistent with previous data from the TTM-trial⁴³ and makes an effect on outcome of the later awakening in TTM33 unlikely.

The daily cumulative probability of awakening illustrates the decreasing chances of awakening with duration of coma. Most patients who awoke had a good neurological outcome, consistent with a previous study¹⁴². There was a significant but weak correlation between time until awakening and long-term neurological outcome, suggesting an association between early awakening and less brain injury.

The correlation analysis of time to awakening and neurological outcome yielded a low value of the correlation coefficient, likely due to the large inter-individual variation of day of awakening in patients with good neurological outcome.

GCS-M on admission and clinical seizures were also independent predictors of late awakening. Both are markers of severity of brain injury, consistent with day of awakening correlating with long-term neurological outcome. A recent retrospective single-centre study found late awakening to be associated with markers of more severe brain injury: discontinuous (vs continuous) EEG background was more common and NSE levels were higher¹⁴³. Clinical seizures in the TTM-trial were commonly treated with additional sedative drugs¹⁴⁴, likely further contributing to late awakening. Previous studies have found other predictors of late awakening^{141,} ^{145, 146}. These studies used both different sets of patient characteristics in their multivariate analyses and different sedation regimens, both likely to affect identified predictors. In paper I, age did not reach statistical significance as an independent predictor of late awakening but age is yet likely a clinically important predictor. Prolonged effects of sedatives may be observed in older age since renal function, activity of cytochrome enzyme P450 and hepatic blood flow all decrease with older age¹⁴⁷. Renal failure on admission was not an independent predictor of late awakening in our data. However, certain drugs, e.g. midazolam, its active metabolite α-hydroxy-midazolam and morphine's active metabolite morphine-6-glucuronide, will accumulate in renal failure^{148, 149}.

Clinical seizures

This study is the largest prospective study on clinical seizures after cardiac arrest and the first compare two levels of TTM. Rates of seizures were similar to those reported after the introduction of TTM, supporting previous findings^{60, 62-64, 72} and the outcomes for patients with clinical seizures (including FPR to predict a poor outcome) in this study are also similar to more recent studies^{62-64, 72, 150}, suggesting generalizability the results in the present study.

Overall myoclonus is a sign of poor outcome after cardiac arrest. If the myoclonic seizures are less explicit, e.g. non-status myoclonus in this study, their prognostic significance is less clear. This may be explained by a less severe brain injury, misdiagnosis of other movement and myoclonus due to other causes. The group of patients with non-status myoclonus likely also contained cases with more severe myoclonus suppressed by sedative medication¹⁵¹. This study reported two survivors with status myoclonus, one of whom had an early status myoclonus and a good neurological outcome. The American Academy of Neurology guidelines on neuroprognostication after cardiac arrest⁶⁷ state that a status myoclonus on day 1

post-arrest was predictive of a poor outcome with an FPR of 0%. Since the publication of the guidelines, several cases of early-onset status myoclonus and good neuro-logical outcome have been reported in hypothermia treated patients^{63, 65, 66, 68}. Additionally, Lance-Adams syndrome (action myoclonus persisting after awakening compatible with otherwise good outcome) may occur on rare occasions mainly, but not exclusively, after cardiac arrest of primarily hypoxic origin. This study only included patients with a presumed cardiac cause of arrest and there was no evidence of chronic myoclonus the two survivors, suggesting that good outcome is possible also from other forms of status myoclonus.

Studies from the pre-TTM era, generally report a higher incidence of clinical seizures than later studies in which patients received TTM and sedation^{71, 152, 153} but most studies were small with a varying time-span for recording seizures. This study found no difference in frequency of seizures between patients managed at TTM33 and TTM36, suggesting that differences between older studies and the present one may be explained by factors other than temperature management, e.g. improvements in ICU care and masking seizures by sedative and muscle relaxant drugs during TTM.

Previous EEG-data suggest that later onset electrographic seizures have a better prognosis than early onset seizures^{81, 154}, a finding that was not reproduced in this study on clinical seizures. In this study the timing of clinical seizures in relation to timing of normothermia, the effect of sedative medication and potential misdiagnosis of shivering are not known, limiting conclusions.

cEEG as a bedside-tool in the ICU

This is the first study to investigate the interrater variability of a trained non-expert versus an EEG-expert using simplified cEEG specifically in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest, a type of patient frequently cared for in the general ICU.

Several previous studies have investigated the interrater agreement among EEGexperts reading full-montage EEG. In post-cardiac arrest patients, substantial agreement was reported on EEG background continuity and voltage, similar to the agreement between ICU physicians and an EEG-expert in III ⁸⁰. In the same study agreement for classifying periodic or rhythmic patterns was only moderate, again similar to the results of III. Interrater agreement for detection of seizures among EEG-experts reading shorter sequences (10-60 seconds) of full-montage EEG has been reported as substantial or near perfect, but was lower for seizure characteristics such as frequency¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁷. The differences in interrater agreement for seizure detection in previous studies may reflect differences in study-design, e.g. type of patients, length of EEG recording, level of experience of the EEG-experts or definition of electrographic seizures used.

It is possible that the ICU physicians would have performed better with more training and exposition. A much smaller study with more extensive training of ICU-physicians, reported more accurate identification of seizures¹⁵⁸. However, another small study compared trained ICU physicians' interpretations of single-channel aEEG with those of an EEG-expert (who had additional access to the single raw-EEG-channel)¹⁵⁹, reported sensitivity of 40% and specificity of 89% for identifying electrographic seizures in patients with recent clinical seizures, similar to the results of III¹⁵⁹.

Considering results of previous studies in combination with the clinical reality of limited access to EEG-expertise outside office-hours, the ICU physicians' interpretation of cEEG in patients post-cardiac arrest may be of value as a preliminary interpretation awaiting review by an EEG-expert. For access to EEG-expertise, cEEG monitors may be connected with neurophysiology departments off-site. Additionally, improving the ICU physicians' knowledge of EEG may facilitate communication and collaboration between ICU physicians, neurophysiologists and neurologists.

Electrographic status epilepticus and serum biomarkers of brain injury

To our knowledge this is the first study aiming to investigate secondary brain injury in postanoxic ESE using serum levels of biomarkers of brain injury. It has not previously been shown whether postanoxic ESE causes further secondary brain injury or is simply a marker of severe encephalopathy in which treatment would be futile. Because epileptic activity can increase the metabolic demand ^{97, 160} and thereby may inflict further neuronal injury, treatment of seizures is generally recommended⁴⁴. These recommendations are based on expert advice awaiting evidence from an ongoing randomized trial¹⁰⁰.

Postanoxic ESE was found to be an independent predictor of serum Nfl-levels at 72hours after cardiac arrest and patients with ESE had higher levels of serum Nfl at 72-hours compared to a control group matched for markers of primary brain injury. These results suggest additional neuronal injury in patients with ESE and are consistent with an earlier study where ESE was found to be an independent predictor of death⁹⁴, however this study lacked a protocol for WLST putting results at risk of the self-fulfilling prophecy¹⁶¹. ESE was not an independent predictor of serum GFAP at 72-hour, although GFAP-levels in patient with ESE were higher at 72hours compared to matched controls. The shorter half-life of GFAP may have contributed to the observed lower levels. However, the difference in results between the two biomarkers of brain injury in this study may also be explained by their different cellular origin and postanoxic ESE predominantly injuring neurons as opposed to glial cells.

In an attempt to answer the question of what comes first, the ESE or the secondary brain injury, a control group matched for predictors of poor neurological outcome was identified among patients without ESE. The variables used for matching were arrest variables suggesting a similar primary brain injury, but also similar risk factors for developing secondary brain injury due to reperfusion injury, fever, hyperglycemia, hypoperfusion or seizures.

The serum biomarkers of brain injury Nfl and GFAP were chosen due to their quick release and prolonged presence in serum after brain injury¹¹¹, making elevated levels in subsequent samples more likely to represent additional injury compared to biomarkers of brain injury with shorter half-lives. At 72 hours after cardiac arrest, serum Nfl and GFAP levels were significantly higher in patients with ESE compared to matched controls suggesting that ESE may cause additional secondary brain injury.

The study design is only an attempt to correct for secondary brain injury other than ESE, and cannot exclude these other mechanisms of secondary brain injury as a cause for the elevated levels of serum Nfl and GFAP. The lack of negative result in this study is also important, if no difference in serum biomarkers of brain injury had been found between the group with ESE and their matched controls, this would have suggested that postanoxic ESE does not contribute to further brain injury after and futility of treatment.

Limitations

Only patients with cardiac arrest of presumed cardiac origin were included, results may not be applicable to patients with cardiac arrest of other causes.

Outcome assessors were blinded to level of TTM, while ICU staff was not. ICU staff was instructed to treat patients in the two intervention arms equally. But awareness of level of TTM may have affected all patient management including choice of treatment and assessment of clinical variables.

The TTM-trial was not primarily designed to investigate awakening, clinicals seizures or serum biomarkers in postanoxic ESE, e.g. exact timings of some variables were not available, e.g. awakening, cessation of sedative administration, seizure and antiepileptics. Sampling of serum biomarkers was not timed to onset of ESE. For variables recorded daily during the trial, the varying duration of day 1 may

have contributed to error. Neither sedation nor antiepileptic management was protocolized.

The study design of III did not entirely reflect the daily clinical practice of cEEG interpretation bed-side in the ICU, e.g. all cEEGs were presented within a short time frame without distracting tasks. The aim of this study was to assess the ICU physicians' interpretations of EEG, therefore an interrater-assessment among neurophysiologists was not performed. Intra-rater agreement was not assessed. All 5 ICU physicians had no prior formal training in cEEG interpretation but, worked in ICUs were cEEG was routinely monitored but only interpreted by neurophysiologists.

Conclusions

Awakening

- Late awakening is common and patients often have a good long-term neurological outcome.
- Time to awakening was longer in TTM33 than in TTM36. The difference could not be attributed to sedative drugs administered during the first 48 h after cardiac arrest.
- Independent predictors of late awakening were: TTM33, level of consciousness on admission and clinical seizures.

Clinical seizures

- Clinical seizures are common after cardiac arrest and associated with a poor outcome.
- Good outcomes occur, even in early status myoclonus.
- No differences in outcome between early and late onset clinical seizures.
- Level of TTM does not affect the prevalence or prognostic significance of seizures.

cEEG as a bedside-tool in the ICU

- After cardiac arrest, preliminary bedside interpretations of simplified cEEGs by trained ICU physicians may allow earlier detection of clinically relevant cEEG changes.
- Earlier diagnosis may prompt changes in patient management as well as additional evaluation by an EEG-expert.
- Bedside interpretation of cEEG by ICU physicians requires awareness of limitations of both the simplified electrode montage and the cEEG interpretations performed by ICU physicians.

Postanoxic ESE and serum biomarkers of brain injury

- After cardiac arrest, ESE is associated with higher levels of serum Nfl suggesting more severe neuronal injury possibly caused by ESE, which can potentially be mitigated by treatment with antiepileptic drugs.
- Associations with GFAP and glial injury are less clear.

Future directions

Sedatives and TTM

The later awakening in patients managed at TTM33 vs TTM36 without any difference in administered sedation, suggests an effect of level TTM on pharmacokinetics of sedative drugs. Lingering sedation may also affect neuroprognostication. A study is ongoing as part of the TTM2-trial.

Bedside use of cEEG

Bedside interpretation of cEEG may not be restricted to physicians. Nurses and assistant nurses spend more time bedside and may identify changes in cEEG earlier. Interpretation by nursing staff would also require validation, eg by a study similar to paper III. In the future, computer-assisted EEG interpretations ^{162, 163} may further aid cEEG implementation, e.g. by alerting staff to changes in EEG.

Postanoxic ESE

Effects of treatment with antiepileptic drugs are being investigated in an ongoing randomized trial¹⁰⁰.

Neuroprognostication

Many prognostic markers included in guidelines^{17, 44} were not studied with blinded assessors and often without a protocol for WLST. Also, the added value of different neuroprognostic markers has not been validated.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Varje år påbörjas hjärtlungräddning (HLR) vid ca 3500 hjärtstopp utanför sjukhus i Sverige. De senaste 20 åren har överlevnaden förbättrats, sannolikt p.g.a. större medvetenhet hos allmänheten som kan påbörja HLR, ringa 112 och kanske även har tillgång till en automatisk defibrillator. Larmoperatören på 112 kan larma ut räddningstjänsten, som ofta har kortare inställelsetid än ambulans. I några delar av Sverige larmas även "sms-livräddare" (personer i allmänheten med kunskap i HLR) som befinner sig i närheten av hjärtstoppet.

Av de 3500 där HLR påbörjas, överlever 1300 patienter själva hjärtstoppet. Under hjärtstilleståndet upphör den normala blodcirkulationen. Som en följd drabbas kroppen av syrebrist, vilket främst påverkar det känsliga organet hjärnan. Vid hjärtstilleståndet blir patienten medvetslös och inom några minuter uppstår hjärnskada till följd av syrebrist. Ofta påverkas hela kroppen av syrebristen och flera organ kan svikta. Patienterna behöver vårdas på en intensivvårdsavdelning, där de t.ex. behöver hjälp att andas i respirator. Av de patienter som läggs in på en intensivvårdsavdelning överlever sedan cirka hälften, de som avlider dör p.g.a. att flera organ sviktar (kroppen orkar inte mer) eller p.g.a. hjärnskadan.

När en patient avlider p.g.a. hjärnskadan, sker detta oftast efter beslut om att avsluta livsuppehållande behandling t.ex. genom att respiratorn stängs av. Detta stora beslut grundas på en prognosbedömning av hjärnskadan – kommer patienten kunna vakna igen utan grava handikapp? I bedömningen ingår klinisk undersökning av patienten, tester av funktionen av patientens nervsystem (neurofysiologiska tester), röntgen av hjärnan och blodprover i vilka markörer för hjärnskada analyseras. Flera olika behandlingar har testats för att försöka minska hjärnskadan efter hjärtstopp. Den hittills mest framgångsrika behandlingen har varit kylbehandling.

Avhandlingen handlar om bedömning av hjärnskada efter hjärtstopp, i två av studierna jämförs effekten av kylbehandling vid två olika temperaturer (33°C och 36°C). De viktigaste fynden är:

• Av de patienter som vaknar upp igen, vaknar de som kylbehandlats vid lägre temperatur (33°C) senare, kanske för att de påverkas av sömnläkemedel under längre tid.

- Kliniska kramper (likande epileptiska anfall), medför oftast en dålig prognos men undantag finns. Det är därför viktigt att göra av samlad bedömning av flera olika undersökningar. Ingen skillnad i prognosvärdet sågs vid kylbehandling vid två olika temperaturer.
- Intensivvårdsläkare är tillgängliga för patienterna dygnet runt. Efter en kort utbildning kunde intensivvårdsläkare tolka registrering av hjärnbarkens elektriska aktivitet (elektroencefalogram, EEG). Detta kan innebära snabbare behandling än om EEG tolkas av specialister som endast är tillgängliga dagtid.
- På EEG kan man se krampanfall som pågår i hjärnan utan att kroppen rycker. Krampanfall som syns på EEG följs utav förhöjda nivåer av markörer för hjärnskada i blodprov. Dessa kramper bör behandlas med läkemedel för att undvika att de orsakar ytterligare hjärnskada.

Acknowledgements

This thesis required support and interest from many people. Thank you all!

PhD supervisor Hans Friberg, for making this thesis possible by sharing your extensive knowledge of the field, excellent guidance, determination and optimism.

PhD co-supervisors Tobias Cronberg, Erik Westhall and Malin Rundgren for support and many interesting discussions throughout this PhD.

Mikael Bodelsson, Professor in Anaesthesia and Intensive care, for the opportunity to work as Assistant Professor.

Past and present heads of Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care Skåne University Hospital: Anders Rehn; Carolina Samuelsson; Marie Martinsson; Bengt Roth; and Görel Nergelius. My past and present immediate managers, Head of Sections of Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive care: Ingrid Östlund and Johan Bonnevier. For making this thesis possible.

Co-authors and everyone at the Centre for Cardiac Arrest at Lund University including the guys at IVA-Malmö and in Sundets Pärla: for scientific input, databases, IT-services, general support and good talks. Susann Ullén for statistical expertise and always very helpful guidance.

Colleagues and staff at the Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care Skåne University Hospital, for your broad interests, curious minds and making our workplace the fun place it is.

Last, but not least, family and friends. Especially my mother-in-law, Marie-Louise, who has always made herself available to look after the children.

Financial support:

This PhD was funded by grants from: Regional research support Region Skåne and European Union Interreg Iva Skåne University Hospital.

The TTM-trial was funded by: Swedish Heart–Lung Foundation, Arbetsmarknadens Försäkringsaktiebolag Insurance Foundation, Swedish Research Council, Region Skåne (Sweden), National Health Service (Sweden), Thelma Zoega Foundation, Krapperup Foundation, Thure Carlsson Foundation, Hans-Gabriel and Alice Trolle-Wachtmeister Foundation for Medical Research, Skåne University Hospital,

References

- [1] Herlitz J, Rawshani A. Svenska Hjärt-Lungräddningsregistret Årsrapport 2019.
- [2] Grasner JT, Lefering R, Koster RW, et al. EuReCa ONE-27 Nations, ONE Europe, ONE Registry: A prospective one month analysis of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest outcomes in 27 countries in Europe. Resuscitation. 2016;105:188-95.
- [3] Benjamin EJ, Virani SS, Callaway CW, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2018 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2018;137:e67e492.
- [4] Weisfeldt ML, Becker LB. Resuscitation after cardiac arrest: a 3-phase time-sensitive model. Jama. 2002;288:3035-8.
- [5] Soar J, Nolan JP, Bottiger BW, et al. European Resuscitation Council Guidelines for Resuscitation 2015: Section 3. Adult advanced life support. Resuscitation. 2015;95:100-47.
- [6] Bergstrom M, Schmidbauer S, Herlitz J, Rawshani A, Friberg H. Pulseless electrical activity is associated with improved survival in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest with initial non-shockable rhythm. Resuscitation. 2018;133:147-52.
- [7] Perkins GD, Ji C, Deakin CD, et al. A Randomized Trial of Epinephrine in Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. N Engl J Med. 2018;379:711-21.
- [8] Nolan JP, Neumar RW, Adrie C, et al. Post-cardiac arrest syndrome: epidemiology, pathophysiology, treatment, and prognostication. A Scientific Statement from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation; the American Heart Association Emergency Cardiovascular Care Committee; the Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; the Council on Cardiopulmonary, Perioperative, and Critical Care; the Council on Clinical Cardiology; the Council on Stroke. Resuscitation. 2008;79:350-79.
- [9] Dragancea I, Rundgren M, Englund E, Friberg H, Cronberg T. The influence of induced hypothermia and delayed prognostication on the mode of death after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2013;84:337-42.
- [10] Adrie C, Adib-Conquy M, Laurent I, *et al.* Successful cardiopulmonary resuscitation after cardiac arrest as a "sepsis-like" syndrome. Circulation. 2002;106:562-8.
- [11] Greer DM. Mechanisms of injury in hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy: implications to therapy. Semin Neurol. 2006;26:373-9.
- [12] Sekhon MS, Ainslie PN, Griesdale DE. Clinical pathophysiology of hypoxic ischemic brain injury after cardiac arrest: a "two-hit" model. Crit Care. 2017;21:90.
- [13] Pana R, Hornby L, Shemie SD, Dhanani S, Teitelbaum J. Time to loss of brain function and activity during circulatory arrest. J Crit Care. 2016;34:77-83.

- [14] Aminoff MJ, Scheinman MM, Griffin JC, Herre JM. Electrocerebral accompaniments of syncope associated with malignant ventricular arrhythmias. Ann Intern Med. 1988;108:791-6.
- [15] Hossmann KA. Reperfusion of the brain after global ischemia: hemodynamic disturbances. Shock. 1997;8:95-101; discussion 2-3.
- [16] Sakabe T, Tateishi A, Miyauchi Y, *et al.* Intracranial pressure following cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Intensive Care Med. 1987;13:256-9.
- [17] Callaway CW, Donnino MW, Fink EL, et al. Part 8: Post-Cardiac Arrest Care: 2015 American Heart Association Guidelines Update for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. Circulation. 2015;132:S465-82.
- [18] Borgquist O, Wise MP, Nielsen N, et al. Dysglycemia, Glycemic Variability, and Outcome After Cardiac Arrest and Temperature Management at 33 degrees C and 36 degrees C. Crit Care Med. 2017;45:1337-43.
- [19] Oksanen T, Skrifvars MB, Varpula T, *et al.* Strict versus moderate glucose control after resuscitation from ventricular fibrillation. Intensive Care Med. 2007;33:2093-100.
- [20] Petito CK, Feldmann E, Pulsinelli WA, Plum F. Delayed hippocampal damage in humans following cardiorespiratory arrest. Neurology. 1987;37:1281-6.
- [21] Bjorklund E, Lindberg E, Rundgren M, Cronberg T, Friberg H, Englund E. Ischaemic brain damage after cardiac arrest and induced hypothermia--a systematic description of selective eosinophilic neuronal death. A neuropathologic study of 23 patients. Resuscitation. 2014;85:527-32.
- [22] Moulaert VR, Verbunt JA, van Heugten CM, Wade DT. Cognitive impairments in survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: a systematic review. Resuscitation. 2009;80:297-305.
- [23] A randomized clinical study of a calcium-entry blocker (lidoflazine) in the treatment of comatose survivors of cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. 1991;324:1225-31.
- [24] Roine RO, Kaste M, Kinnunen A, Nikki P, Sarna S, Kajaste S. Nimodipine after resuscitation from out-of-hospital ventricular fibrillation. A placebo-controlled, double-blind, randomized trial. Jama. 1990;264:3171-7.
- [25] Bottiger BW, Arntz HR, Chamberlain DA, *et al.* Thrombolysis during resuscitation for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:2651-62.
- [26] Callaway CW, Ramos R, Logue ES, Betz AE, Wheeler M, Repine MJ. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor does not improve recovery after cardiac arrest in rats. Neurosci Lett. 2008;445:103-7.
- [27] Teschendorf P, Vogel P, Wippel A, *et al.* The effect of intracerebroventricular application of the caspase-3 inhibitor zDEVD-FMK on neurological outcome and neuronal cell death after global cerebral ischaemia due to cardiac arrest in rats. Resuscitation. 2008;78:85-91.
- [28] Laitio R, Hynninen M, Arola O, et al. Effect of Inhaled Xenon on Cerebral White Matter Damage in Comatose Survivors of Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Jama. 2016;315:1120-8.

- [29] Eastwood GM, Schneider AG, Suzuki S, *et al.* Targeted therapeutic mild hypercapnia after cardiac arrest: A phase II multi-centre randomised controlled trial (the CCC trial). Resuscitation. 2016;104:83-90.
- [30] Damian MS, Ellenberg D, Gildemeister R, *et al.* Coenzyme Q10 combined with mild hypothermia after cardiac arrest: a preliminary study. Circulation. 2004;110:3011-6.
- [31] Mentzelopoulos SD, Zakynthinos SG, Tzoufi M, *et al.* Vasopressin, epinephrine, and corticosteroids for in-hospital cardiac arrest. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169:15-24.
- [32] Grafton ST, Longstreth WT, Jr. Steroids after cardiac arrest: a retrospective study with concurrent, nonrandomized controls. Neurology. 1988;38:1315-6.
- [33] Randomized clinical study of thiopental loading in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. 1986;314:397-403.
- [34] Longstreth WT, Jr., Fahrenbruch CE, Olsufka M, Walsh TR, Copass MK, Cobb LA. Randomized clinical trial of magnesium, diazepam, or both after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Neurology. 2002;59:506-14.
- [35] Leonov Y, Sterz F, Safar P, et al. Mild cerebral hypothermia during and after cardiac arrest improves neurologic outcome in dogs. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1990;10:57-70.
- [36] Hoesch RE, Geocadin RG. Therapeutic hypothermia for global and focal ischemic brain injury--a cool way to improve neurologic outcomes. Neurologist. 2007;13:331-42.
- [37] Bernard SA, Gray TW, Buist MD, *et al.* Treatment of comatose survivors of out-ofhospital cardiac arrest with induced hypothermia. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:557-63.
- [38] Mild therapeutic hypothermia to improve the neurologic outcome after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:549-56.
- [39] Nolan JP, Morley PT, Vanden Hoek TL, *et al.* Therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest: an advisory statement by the advanced life support task force of the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation. Circulation. 2003;108:118-21.
- [40] Arrich J, Holzer M, Havel C, Mullner M, Herkner H. Hypothermia for neuroprotection in adults after cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012:Cd004128.
- [41] Zeiner A, Holzer M, Sterz F, *et al.* Hyperthermia after cardiac arrest is associated with an unfavorable neurologic outcome. Arch Intern Med. 2001;161:2007-12.
- [42] Nielsen N, Friberg H, Gluud C, Herlitz J, Wetterslev J. Hypothermia after cardiac arrest should be further evaluated--a systematic review of randomised trials with meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. Int J Cardiol. 2011;151:333-41.
- [43] Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, Cronberg T, et al. Targeted temperature management at 33 degrees C versus 36 degrees C after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:2197-206.
- [44] Nolan JP, Soar J, Cariou A, et al. European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine Guidelines for Post-resuscitation Care 2015: Section 5 of the European Resuscitation Council Guidelines for Resuscitation 2015. Resuscitation. 2015;95:202-22.

- [45] Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Lilja G, *et al.* Targeted hypothermia versus targeted Normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (TTM2): A randomized clinical trial-Rationale and design. Am Heart J. 2019;217:23-31.
- [46] Lascarrou JB, Merdji H, Le Gouge A, *et al.* Targeted Temperature Management for Cardiac Arrest with Nonshockable Rhythm. N Engl J Med. 2019.
- [47] Jorgensen EO, Holm S. The course of circulatory and cerebral recovery after circulatory arrest: influence of pre-arrest, arrest and post-arrest factors. Resuscitation. 1999;42:173-82.
- [48] Jorgensen EO, Holm S. The natural course of neurological recovery following cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Resuscitation. 1998;36:111-22.
- [49] Jorgensen EO, Malchow-Moller A. Natural history of global and critical brain ischaemia. Part II: EEG and neurological signs in patients remaining unconscious after cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Resuscitation. 1981;9:155-74.
- [50] Jorgensen EO, Malchow-Moller A. Natural history of global and critical brain ischaemia. Part I: EEG and neurological signs during the first year after cardiopulmonary resuscitation in patients subsequently regaining consciousness. Resuscitation. 1981;9:133-53.
- [51] Edgren E, Hedstrand U, Kelsey S, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Safar P. Assessment of neurological prognosis in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest. BRCT I Study Group. Lancet. 1994;343:1055-9.
- [52] Howell K, Grill E, Klein AM, Straube A, Bender A. Rehabilitation outcome of anoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy survivors with prolonged disorders of consciousness. Resuscitation. 2013;84:1409-15.
- [53] Varghese JM, Roberts JA, Lipman J. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in critically ill patients. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2010;23:472-8.
- [54] Tortorici MA, Kochanek PM, Poloyac SM. Effects of hypothermia on drug disposition, metabolism, and response: A focus of hypothermia-mediated alterations on the cytochrome P450 enzyme system. Crit Care Med. 2007;35:2196-204.
- [55] van den Broek MP, Groenendaal F, Egberts AC, Rademaker CM. Effects of hypothermia on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: a systematic review of preclinical and clinical studies. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2010;49:277-94.
- [56] Sandroni C, Cariou A, Cavallaro F, *et al.* Prognostication in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: an advisory statement from the European Resuscitation Council and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Resuscitation. 2014;85:1779-89.
- [57] Dragancea I, Wise MP, Al-Subaie N, *et al.* Protocol-driven neurological prognostication and withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management. Resuscitation. 2017.
- [58] Samaniego EA, Mlynash M, Caulfield AF, Eyngorn I, Wijman CA. Sedation confounds outcome prediction in cardiac arrest survivors treated with hypothermia. Neurocrit Care. 2011;15:113-9.
- [59] Dragancea I, Horn J, Kuiper M, *et al.* Neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management 33 degrees C versus 36 degrees C: Results from a randomised controlled clinical trial. Resuscitation. 2015.

- [60] Nielsen N, Hovdenes J, Nilsson F, *et al.* Outcome, timing and adverse events in therapeutic hypothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2009;53:926-34.
- [61] Benbadis SR, Chen S, Melo M. What's shaking in the ICU? The differential diagnosis of seizures in the intensive care setting. Epilepsia. 2010;51:2338-40.
- [62] Rossetti AO, Oddo M, Logroscino G, Kaplan PW. Prognostication after cardiac arrest and hypothermia: a prospective study. Ann Neurol. 2010;67:301-7.
- [63] Bouwes A, van Poppelen D, Koelman JH, *et al.* Acute posthypoxic myoclonus after cardiopulmonary resuscitation. BMC Neurol. 2012;12:63.
- [64] Seder DB, Sunde K, Rubertsson S, *et al.* Neurologic Outcomes and Postresuscitation Care of Patients With Myoclonus Following Cardiac Arrest. Crit Care Med. 2015.
- [65] Elmer J, Rittenberger JC, Faro J, *et al.* Clinically distinct electroencephalographic phenotypes of early myoclonus after cardiac arrest. Ann Neurol. 2016;80:175-84.
- [66] Lucas JM, Cocchi MN, Salciccioli J, *et al.* Neurologic recovery after therapeutic hypothermia in patients with post-cardiac arrest myoclonus. Resuscitation. 2012;83:265-9.
- [67] Wijdicks EF, Hijdra A, Young GB, Bassetti CL, Wiebe S. Practice parameter: prediction of outcome in comatose survivors after cardiopulmonary resuscitation (an evidence-based review): report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Neurology. 2006;67:203-10.
- [68] Greer DM. Unexpected good recovery in a comatose post-cardiac arrest patient with poor prognostic features. Resuscitation. 2013;84:e81-2.
- [69] Lance JW, Adams RD. The syndrome of intention or action myoclonus as a sequel to hypoxic encephalopathy. Brain. 1963;86:111-36.
- [70] Werhahn KJ, Brown P, Thompson PD, Marsden CD. The clinical features and prognosis of chronic posthypoxic myoclonus. Mov Disord. 1997;12:216-20.
- [71] Snyder BD, Hauser WA, Loewenson RB, Leppik IE, Ramirez-Lassepas M, Gumnit RJ. Neurologic prognosis after cardiopulmonary arrest: III. Seizure activity. Neurology. 1980;30:1292-7.
- [72] Zandbergen EG, Hijdra A, Koelman JH, *et al.* Prediction of poor outcome within the first 3 days of postanoxic coma. Neurology. 2006;66:62-8.
- [73] Bender A, Howell K, Frey M, Berlis A, Naumann M, Buheitel G. Bilateral loss of cortical SSEP responses is compatible with good outcome after cardiac arrest. J Neurol. 2012;259:2481-3.
- [74] Leithner C, Ploner CJ, Hasper D, Storm C. Does hypothermia influence the predictive value of bilateral absent N20 after cardiac arrest? Neurology. 2010;74:965-9.
- [75] Zandbergen EG, Hijdra A, de Haan RJ, et al. Interobserver variation in the interpretation of SSEPs in anoxic-ischaemic coma. Clin Neurophysiol. 2006;117:1529-35.
- [76] Pfeifer R, Weitzel S, Gunther A, et al. Investigation of the inter-observer variability effect on the prognostic value of somatosensory evoked potentials of the median nerve (SSEP) in cardiac arrest survivors using an SSEP classification. Resuscitation. 2013;84:1375-81.

- [77] Stecker MM, Cheung AT, Pochettino A, et al. Deep hypothermic circulatory arrest: I. Effects of cooling on electroencephalogram and evoked potentials. Ann Thorac Surg. 2001;71:14-21.
- [78] Friberg H, Cronberg T, Dunser MW, Duranteau J, Horn J, Oddo M. Survey on current practices for neurological prognostication after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2015;90:158-62.
- [79] Hirsch LJ, LaRoche SM, Gaspard N, et al. American Clinical Neurophysiology Society's Standardized Critical Care EEG Terminology: 2012 version. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2013;30:1-27.
- [80] Westhall E, Rosen I, Rossetti AO, *et al.* Interrater variability of EEG interpretation in comatose cardiac arrest patients. Clin Neurophysiol. 2015.
- [81] Rundgren M, Westhall E, Cronberg T, Rosen I, Friberg H. Continuous amplitudeintegrated electroencephalogram predicts outcome in hypothermia-treated cardiac arrest patients. Crit Care Med. 2010;38:1838-44.
- [82] Oh SH, Park KN, Shon YM, et al. Continuous Amplitude-Integrated Electroencephalographic Monitoring Is a Useful Prognostic Tool for Hypothermia-Treated Cardiac Arrest Patients. Circulation. 2015;132:1094-103.
- [83] Hofmeijer J, Beernink TM, Bosch FH, Beishuizen A, Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, van Putten MJ. Early EEG contributes to multimodal outcome prediction of postanoxic coma. Neurology. 2015;85:137-43.
- [84] Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, Hofmeijer J, Trof RJ, Blans MJ, Beishuizen A, van Putten MJ. Electroencephalogram predicts outcome in patients with postanoxic coma during mild therapeutic hypothermia*. Crit Care Med. 2015;43:159-67.
- [85] Cloostermans MC, van Meulen FB, Eertman CJ, Hom HW, van Putten MJ. Continuous electroencephalography monitoring for early prediction of neurological outcome in postanoxic patients after cardiac arrest: a prospective cohort study. Crit Care Med. 2012;40:2867-75.
- [86] Sivaraju A, Gilmore EJ, Wira CR, et al. Prognostication of post-cardiac arrest coma: early clinical and electroencephalographic predictors of outcome. Intensive Care Med. 2015.
- [87] Westhall E, Rossetti AO, van Rootselaar AF, *et al.* Standardized EEG interpretation accurately predicts prognosis after cardiac arrest. Neurology. 2016.
- [88] Rossetti AO, Carrera E, Oddo M. Early EEG correlates of neuronal injury after brain anoxia. Neurology. 2012;78:796-802.
- [89] Kawai M, Thapalia U, Verma A. Outcome from therapeutic hypothermia and EEG. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2011;28:483-8.
- [90] Hofmeijer J, Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, van Putten MJ. Burst-suppression with identical bursts: a distinct EEG pattern with poor outcome in postanoxic coma. Clin Neurophysiol. 2014;125:947-54.
- [91] Admiraal MM, van Rootselaar AF, Hofmeijer J, *et al.* Electroencephalographic reactivity as predictor of neurological outcome in postanoxic coma: A multicenter prospective cohort study. Ann Neurol. 2019;86:17-27.

- [92] Rossetti AO, Tovar Quiroga DF, Juan E, *et al.* Electroencephalography Predicts Poor and Good Outcomes After Cardiac Arrest: A Two-Center Study. Crit Care Med. 2017;45:e674-e82.
- [93] Admiraal MM, van Rootselaar AF, Horn J. International consensus on EEG reactivity testing after cardiac arrest: Towards standardization. Resuscitation. 2018;131:36-41.
- [94] Rossetti AO, Logroscino G, Liaudet L, *et al.* Status epilepticus: an independent outcome predictor after cerebral anoxia. Neurology. 2007;69:255-60.
- [95] Backman S, Westhall E, Dragancea I, *et al.* Electroencephalographic characteristics of status epilepticus after cardiac arrest. Clin Neurophysiol. 2017.
- [96] Legriel S, Hilly-Ginoux J, Resche-Rigon M, *et al.* Prognostic value of electrographic postanoxic status epilepticus in comatose cardiac-arrest survivors in the therapeutic hypothermia era. Resuscitation. 2013;84:343-50.
- [97] Ingvar M. Cerebral blood flow and metabolic rate during seizures. Relationship to epileptic brain damage. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1986;462:194-206.
- [98] Correale J, Rabinowicz AL, Heck CN, Smith TD, Loskota WJ, DeGiorgio CM. Status epilepticus increases CSF levels of neuron-specific enolase and alters the blood-brain barrier. Neurology. 1998;50:1388-91.
- [99] DeGiorgio CM, Heck CN, Rabinowicz AL, Gott PS, Smith T, Correale J. Serum neuron-specific enolase in the major subtypes of status epilepticus. Neurology. 1999;52:746-9.
- [100] Ruijter BJ, van Putten MJ, Horn J, *et al.* Treatment of electroencephalographic status epilepticus after cardiopulmonary resuscitation (TELSTAR): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2014;15:433.
- [101] Kim SH, Choi SP, Park KN, Youn CS, Oh SH, Choi SM. Early brain computed tomography findings are associated with outcome in patients treated with therapeutic hypothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med. 2013;21:57.
- [102] Moseby-Knappe M, Pellis T, Dragancea I, et al. Head computed tomography for prognostication of poor outcome in comatose patients after cardiac arrest and targeted temperature management. Resuscitation. 2017;119:89-94.
- [103] Keijzer HM, Hoedemaekers CWE, Meijer FJA, Tonino BAR, Klijn CJM, Hofmeijer J. Brain imaging in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest: Pathophysiological correlates and prognostic properties. Resuscitation. 2018;133:124-36.
- [104] Cronberg T, Rundgren M, Westhall E, *et al.* Neuron-specific enolase correlates with other prognostic markers after cardiac arrest. Neurology. 2011;77:623-30.
- [105] Rundgren M, Cronberg T, Friberg H, Isaksson A. Serum neuron specific enolase impact of storage and measuring method. BMC Res Notes. 2014;7:726.
- [106] Rundgren M, Karlsson T, Nielsen N, Cronberg T, Johnsson P, Friberg H. Neuron specific enolase and S-100B as predictors of outcome after cardiac arrest and induced hypothermia. Resuscitation. 2009;80:784-9.
- [107] Stammet P, Collignon O, Hassager C, *et al.* Neuron-Specific Enolase as a Predictor of Death or Poor Neurological Outcome After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest and

Targeted Temperature Management at 33 degrees C and 36 degrees C. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65:2104-14.

- [108] Tiainen M, Roine RO, Pettila V, Takkunen O. Serum neuron-specific enolase and S-100B protein in cardiac arrest patients treated with hypothermia. Stroke. 2003;34:2881-6.
- [109] Moseby-Knappe M, Mattsson N, Nielsen N, *et al.* Serum Neurofilament Light Chain for Prognosis of Outcome After Cardiac Arrest. JAMA Neurol. 2019;76:64-71.
- [110] Rana OR, Schroder JW, Baukloh JK, et al. Neurofilament light chain as an early and sensitive predictor of long-term neurological outcome in patients after cardiac arrest. Int J Cardiol. 2013;168:1322-7.
- [111] Thelin EP, Zeiler FA, Ercole A, et al. Serial Sampling of Serum Protein Biomarkers for Monitoring Human Traumatic Brain Injury Dynamics: A Systematic Review. Front Neurol. 2017;8:300.
- [112] Helwig K, Seeger F, Holschermann H, et al. Elevated Serum Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP) is Associated with Poor Functional Outcome After Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation. Neurocrit Care. 2017;27:68-74.
- [113] Larsson IM, Wallin E, Kristofferzon ML, Niessner M, Zetterberg H, Rubertsson S. Post-cardiac arrest serum levels of glial fibrillary acidic protein for predicting neurological outcome. Resuscitation. 2014;85:1654-61.
- [114] Tong JT, Eyngorn I, Mlynash M, Albers GW, Hirsch KG. Functional Neurologic Outcomes Change Over the First 6 Months After Cardiac Arrest. Crit Care Med. 2016;44:e1202-e7.
- [115] Jennett B, Bond M. Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet. 1975;1:480-4.
- [116] Lilja G, Nielsen N, Friberg H, et al. Cognitive Function in Survivors of Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest After Target Temperature Management at 33 degrees C Versus 36 degrees C. Circulation. 2015;131:1340-9.
- [117] Cronberg T, Lilja G, Horn J, et al. Neurologic Function and Health-Related Quality of Life in Patients Following Targeted Temperature Management at 33 degrees C vs 36 degrees C After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Neurol. 2015.
- [118] Lilja G, Nilsson G, Nielsen N, *et al.* Anxiety and depression among out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors. Resuscitation. 2015;97:68-75.
- [119] Claassen J, Taccone FS, Horn P, Holtkamp M, Stocchetti N, Oddo M. Recommendations on the use of EEG monitoring in critically ill patients: consensus statement from the neurointensive care section of the ESICM. Intensive Care Med. 2013;39:1337-51.
- [120] Claassen J, Vespa P. Electrophysiologic monitoring in acute brain injury. Neurocrit Care. 2014;21 Suppl 2:S129-47.
- [121] Herman ST, Abend NS, Bleck TP, et al. Consensus statement on continuous EEG in critically ill adults and children, part I: indications. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;32:87-95.

- [122] Herman ST, Abend NS, Bleck TP, et al. Consensus statement on continuous EEG in critically ill adults and children, part II: personnel, technical specifications, and clinical practice. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;32:96-108.
- [123] Le Roux P, Menon DK, Citerio G, et al. Consensus summary statement of the International Multidisciplinary Consensus Conference on Multimodality Monitoring in Neurocritical Care : a statement for healthcare professionals from the Neurocritical Care Society and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Intensive Care Med. 2014;40:1189-209.
- [124] Gavvala J, Abend N, LaRoche S, *et al.* Continuous EEG monitoring: a survey of neurophysiologists and neurointensivists. Epilepsia. 2014;55:1864-71.
- [125] Patel M, Bagary M, McCorry D. The management of Convulsive Refractory Status Epilepticus in adults in the UK: No consistency in practice and little access to continuous EEG monitoring. Seizure. 2015;24:33-7.
- [126] Park A, Boyd JG. EEG utilization in the medical/surgical ICU: a single centre prospective observational study. Intensive Care Med. 2015;41:1869-70.
- [127] Crepeau AZ, Fugate JE, Mandrekar J, et al. Value analysis of continuous EEG in patients during therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2014;85:785-9.
- [128] Friberg H, Westhall E, Rosen I, Rundgren M, Nielsen N, Cronberg T. Clinical review: Continuous and simplified electroencephalography to monitor brain recovery after cardiac arrest. Crit Care. 2013;17:233.
- [129] Westhall E. Electroencephalography as a Prognostic Tool after Cardiac Arrest. Semin Neurol. 2017;37:48-59.
- [130] Vanherpe P, Schrooten M. Minimal EEG montage with high yield for the detection of status epilepticus in the setting of postanoxic brain damage. Acta Neurol Belg. 2017;117:145-52.
- [131] You KM, Suh GJ, Kwon WY, et al. Epileptiform discharge detection with the 4channel frontal electroencephalography during post-resuscitation care. Resuscitation. 2017;117:8-13.
- [132] Pati S, McClain L, Moura L, Fan Y, Westover MB. Accuracy of Limited-Montage Electroencephalography in Monitoring Postanoxic Comatose Patients. Clin EEG Neurosci. 2017;48:422-7.
- [133] Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, Hofmeijer J, Hom HW, Bosch FH, van Putten M. Predicting Outcome in Postanoxic Coma: Are Ten EEG Electrodes Enough? J Clin Neurophysiol. 2017;34:207-12.
- [134] Rundgren M, Rosen I, Friberg H. Amplitude-integrated EEG (aEEG) predicts outcome after cardiac arrest and induced hypothermia. Intensive Care Med. 2006;32:836-42.
- [135] Seder DB, Fraser GL, Robbins T, Libby L, Riker RR. The bispectral index and suppression ratio are very early predictors of neurological outcome during therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest. Intensive Care Med. 2010;36:281-8.
- [136] Stammet P, Collignon O, Werer C, Sertznig C, Devaux Y. Bispectral index to predict neurological outcome early after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2014;85:1674-80.
- [137] Haesen J, Eertmans W, Genbrugge C, et al. The validation of simplified EEG derived from the bispectral index monitor in post-cardiac arrest patients. Resuscitation. 2018;126:179-84.
- [138] Wennervirta JE, Ermes MJ, Tiainen SM, et al. Hypothermia-treated cardiac arrest patients with good neurological outcome differ early in quantitative variables of EEG suppression and epileptiform activity. Crit Care Med. 2009;37:2427-35.
- [139] Tjepkema-Cloostermans MC, da Silva Lourenco C, Ruijter BJ, et al. Outcome Prediction in Postanoxic Coma With Deep Learning. Crit Care Med. 2019;47:1424-32.
- [140] Ghassemi MM, Amorim E, Alhanai T, et al. Quantitative Electroencephalogram Trends Predict Recovery in Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy. Crit Care Med. 2019;47:1416-23.
- [141] Ponz I, Lopez-de-Sa E, Armada E, *et al.* Influence of the temperature on the moment of awakening in patients treated with therapeutic hypothermia after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2016;103:32-6.
- [142] Gold B, Puertas L, Davis SP, *et al.* Awakening after cardiac arrest and post resuscitation hypothermia: Are we pulling the plug too early? Resuscitation. 2013.
- [143] Rey A, Rossetti AO, Miroz JP, Eckert P, Oddo M. Late Awakening in Survivors of Postanoxic Coma: Early Neurophysiologic Predictors and Association With ICU and Long-Term Neurologic Recovery. Crit Care Med. 2019;47:85-92.
- [144] Lybeck A, Friberg H, Aneman A, et al. Prognostic significance of clinical seizures after cardiac arrest and target temperature management. Resuscitation. 2017;114:146-51.
- [145] Paul M, Bougouin W, Geri G, et al. Delayed awakening after cardiac arrest: prevalence and risk factors in the Parisian registry. Intensive Care Med. 2016;42:1128-36.
- [146] Irisawa T, Vadeboncoeur TF, Karamooz M, et al. Duration of Coma in Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest Survivors Treated With Targeted Temperature Management. Ann Emerg Med. 2017;69:36-43.
- [147] Mangoni AA, Jackson SH. Age-related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: basic principles and practical applications. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2004;57:6-14.
- [148] Vinik HR, Reves JG, Greenblatt DJ, Abernethy DR, Smith LR. The pharmacokinetics of midazolam in chronic renal failure patients. Anesthesiology. 1983;59:390-4.
- [149] Osborne R, Joel S, Grebenik K, Trew D, Slevin M. The pharmacokinetics of morphine and morphine glucuronides in kidney failure. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1993;54:158-67.
- [150] Thomke F, Marx JJ, Sauer O, *et al.* Observations on comatose survivors of cardiopulmonary resuscitation with generalized myoclonus. BMC Neurol. 2005;5:14.
- [151] Thomke F, Weilemann SL. Poor prognosis despite successful treatment of postanoxic generalized myoclonus. Neurology. 2010;74:1392-4.

- [152] Bassetti C, Bomio F, Mathis J, Hess CW. Early prognosis in coma after cardiac arrest: a prospective clinical, electrophysiological, and biochemical study of 60 patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1996;61:610-5.
- [153] Krumholz A, Stern BJ, Weiss HD. Outcome from coma after cardiopulmonary resuscitation: relation to seizures and myoclonus. Neurology. 1988;38:401-5.
- [154] Ruijter BJ, van Putten MJ, Hofmeijer J. Generalized epileptiform discharges in postanoxic encephalopathy: Quantitative characterization in relation to outcome. Epilepsia. 2015;56:1845-54.
- [155] Gaspard N, Hirsch LJ, LaRoche SM, Hahn CD, Westover MB. Interrater agreement for Critical Care EEG Terminology. Epilepsia. 2014;55:1366-73.
- [156] Gerber PA, Chapman KE, Chung SS, et al. Interobserver agreement in the interpretation of EEG patterns in critically ill adults. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2008;25:241-9.
- [157] Ronner HE, Ponten SC, Stam CJ, Uitdehaag BM. Inter-observer variability of the EEG diagnosis of seizures in comatose patients. Seizure. 2009;18:257-63.
- [158] Citerio G, Patruno A, Beretta S, Longhi L, Frigeni B, Lorini L. Implementation of continuous qEEG in two neurointensive care units by intensivists: a feasibility study. Intensive Care Med. 2017;43:1067-8.
- [159] Nitzschke R, Muller J, Engelhardt R, Schmidt GN. Single-channel amplitude integrated EEG recording for the identification of epileptic seizures by nonexpert physicians in the adult acute care setting. J Clin Monit Comput. 2011;25:329-37.
- [160] Witsch J, Frey HP, Schmidt JM, et al. Electroencephalographic Periodic Discharges and Frequency-Dependent Brain Tissue Hypoxia in Acute Brain Injury. JAMA Neurol. 2017;74:301-9.
- [161] Driessen JJ, Vree TB, Guelen PJ. The effects of acute changes in renal function on the pharmacokinetics of midazolam during long-term infusion in ICU patients. Acta Anaesthesiol Belg. 1991;42:149-55.
- [162] Sierra-Marcos A, Scheuer ML, Rossetti AO. Seizure detection with automated EEG analysis: a validation study focusing on periodic patterns. Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;126:456-62.
- [163] Furbass F, Ossenblok P, Hartmann M, et al. Prospective multi-center study of an automatic online seizure detection system for epilepsy monitoring units. Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;126:1124-31.